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ince first being widely discovered by hikers and tourists in the late nine-
teenth century, Muir Woods National Monument has become renowned
across the country and beyond for its old-growth forest of coast red-

woods, Sequoia sempervirens, located in the midst of a metropolitan region just
eight miles north of San Francisco. Designated the country’s tenth National
Monument in 1908 by President Theodore Roosevelt, Muir Woods has a remark-
able cultural history, if somewhat understandably overshadowed by its natural
history. Muir Woods was the first National Monument located close to a major
city, and it was the first federal or state park established in the region. The pres-
ervation of the old-growth redwood forest was due in large part to the efforts of
William Kent, who gifted the property to the federal government, and together
with other politically well-connected individuals, local residents, businesspeople,
and hikers, formed a remarkably strong local conservation movement. In the years
after the designation of Muir Woods, this movement achieved the preservation of
much of the rugged coastline north of San Francisco, today encompassed chiefly
by Golden Gate National Recreation Area, Mount Tamalpais State Park, the Marin
Municipal Water District, and Point Reyes National Seashore. Despite the estab-
lishment of these surrounding park areas, Muir Woods National Monument has
retained its identity as a distinct unit of the National Park System, visited annually
by hundreds of thousands as one of the chief tourist attractions in the San Fran-
cisco Bay Area. During the near century since its designation in 1908, boundar-
ies have been expanded, vehicular access has switched from rail to automobile,
recreational preferences have shifted, design styles have changed from romantic
to modern, and methods of managing natural resources have evolved according
to ecological perspectives. Yet throughout its history, management of Muir Woods
National Monument has centered on caring for the redwood forest and providing

public access to it.

While the monument’s history of designation, park development, and boundary
expansion is generally known, it has not been studied in much detail, particularly
not the development of the park landscape or association with the broader history
of conservation both at a national level and regionally in the Bay Area. This report
is intended to address these gaps in order to provide park managers, planners, in-
terpreters, and the interested public the information needed to better understand
the cultural history and significance of Muir Woods. It is written as a Historic
Resource Study (HRS), which the National Park Service defines as providing
“...an historical overview of a park and its associated resources, and identifies
and evaluates a park’s cultural resources within historic contexts. It synthesizes
all available cultural resource information from various disciplines. Entailing

both documentary research and field investigation to determine and describe the
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Figure 0.1: Locafion of Muir Woods
in the San Francisco Bay Area. Detail,
Sfgate.com Bay Area map, annotated
by State University of New York,
College of Envirionmental Science
and Forestry (SUNY ESF).

Figure 0.2: Location of Muir Woods
within public lands on the Marin
Peninsula. Detail, National Park
Service, Golden Gate National
Recreation Area park brochure, 2000,
modified by SUNY ESF.

integrity, authenticity, associative values, and significance of
resources, the HRS supplies data for resource management

» |

and interpretation.

This report is divided into three parts. Part I is a land-use
history that provides an overview of the use, ownership, and
physical development of Muir Woods and its surrounding
lands from its Native American use prior to European settle-
ment in the nineteenth century, through its incorporation
into Golden Gate National Recreation Area during the late
twentieth century. Part I also explores the historic context

of Muir Woods within the American tradition of rustic
landscape design and National Park Service management,
and the history of agriculture, transportation, public park-
lands, and suburban development in the surrounding Mount
Tamalpais region. Part IT of the study provides a contextual
history that addresses the relationship of Muir Woods to the
development of American conservation in the late nineteenth
century and first half of the twentieth century, emphasizing
both national developments as well as those in the San Francisco Bay Area. Using
conservation as the primary historic theme for Muir Woods, Part IT explores the
background and intentions of the individuals and institutions that worked to pre-
serve Muir Woods and make it accessible to the public, most notably William Kent
and the National Park Service. Based on the findings of the preceding two parts,
Part III of the study provides recommendations on the historic significance of
Muir Woods based on the National Register Criteria, along with general treatment

recommendations and recommendations for further research.

PROJECT SETTING

3=

Area managed by Golden Gate

National Recreation Area
i Other public lands

Muir Woods National Monument is located on the Marin
Peninsula, a large and mountainous spit of land north of San
Francisco across the straights of the Golden Gate, border-
ing the Pacific Ocean to the west and San Francisco and

San Pablo Bays to the east. [Figure 0.1] This area occupies
the central-western edge of the San Francisco metropolitan
area, a region of nine counties generally referred to as the
Bay Area, with a population of over seven million. On the
Marin Peninsula, development is largely restricted to its
eastern half along the bay, a region traversed by highways

“ *| leading north from San Francisco over the Golden Gate

rm Aﬁ‘c’;’m' Bridge. The largest and best-known communities in the sub-
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Figure 0.3: Map illustrating
relationship of Muir Woods
National Monument to the City of
Mill Valley and other private lands
(shaded gray), Mount Tamalpais
State Park (in green), Marin
Municipal Water District (in blue),
and other lands of Golden Gate

National Recreation Area (in olive).
SUNY ESF, based on USGS Point
Bonitas quadrangle (1993) and Tom
Harrison “Mt Tam Trail Map” (2003).

urban region include Mill Valley, San Rafael, and Sausalito. Muir Woods National
Monument lies to their west, approximately two miles east of the Pacific Ocean

and eight miles northwest of the Golden Gate Bridge.

Surrounding Muir Woods on the western or ocean side of the Marin Peninsula is
an expansive region of protected public lands, set apart from the heavily devel-
oped eastern part by a series of high ridges. [Figure 0.2] The National Park Service
(NPS) administers the largest amount of these lands, including Muir Woods, as
components of Golden Gate National Recreation Area, a metropolitan park sys-
tem of natural areas, historic sites, and recreational lands. Most of the Pacific coast
north of Muir Woods is separately administered by the National Park Service as
Point Reyes National Seashore. Other publicly owned lands in West Marin near
Muir Woods include Mount Tamalpais (pronounced Tam’l-pye-iss) State Park and
the Marin Municipal Water District.

Muir Woods National Monument is situated approximately one mile west of the
City of Mill Valley, on the southern flank of Mount Tamalpais, the highest point
on the Marin Peninsula. [Figure 0.3] The monument is entirely surrounded by
lands belonging to Mount
Tamalpais State Park, which
extends northward toward

the mountain’s prominent
peaks, approximately two miles
distant. Unless hiking down
from one of the surrounding
ridges, visitors generally do not
get an overall prospect of Muir
Woods, which is isolated within
anarrow valley, known as Red-
wood Canyon, and surrounded
by grasslands, chaparral, and
deciduous woods. Most visi-
tors see only a small part of the
monument, primarily from the
main trail that runs through the
canyon floor along Redwood
Creek in the understory of the
monument’s largest redwood

trees.

Visitors arriving by automobile

or bus use Muir Woods Road
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(also known as Muir Woods-Frank Valley Road), a winding, two-lane county
road that connects on the east with the Panoramic Highway and Mill Valley, and
on the southwest with the Shoreline Highway (US Route 1) and the community of
Muir Beach on the Pacific coast. The main entrance to the park is located roughly
in the middle of Muir Woods Road, at the southern end of Redwood Canyon.
[Figure 0.4] Adjoining the entrance are the parking lots, rest rooms, and a visi-
tor center located outside of the redwood forest, within the monument bound-
ary but on lands leased from Mount Tamalpais State Park. A timber gateway at
the north end of the parking lot is on the NPS property boundary and marks the
entrance into the forest along the main trail. A short distance into the forest is the

Administration-Concession Building, with park offices, gift shop, and snack bar.
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Figure 0.4: Map of the existing
boundaries, tracts, trails, roads, and  Visitors can also enter the monument from adjoining state park lands on foot from
primary buildings in Muir Woods

several side trails that lead to the canyon floor, notably the Bootjack, Ben Johnson,
National Monument. SUNY ESF.

Dipsea, Fern Creek, and Ocean View Trails. These trails generally follow the tribu-

taries of Redwood Creek, and the ridges to either side of the canyon.

The original part of Muir Woods National Monument designated in 1908 [see Fig-
ure 0.4] consists of 295 acres and incorporates most of the old-growth redwoods
concentrated along the floor and northeast-facing wall of the canyon. Several
additions were made by Presidential proclamation through 1958, and a fifty-acre

tract was legislatively added to the Muir Woods unit, without National Monument
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designation, in 1974, bringing the total size of the park unit to 560 acres. The par-
cel leased from the state at the monument entrance encompasses approximately
nineteen acres. Although owned by the state, the parcel functions as a part of Muir
Woods and is not distinguished from NPS-owned property. South and west of the
main entrance, the park extends along Frank Valley Road for approximately 1,200
feet to where it crosses Redwood Creek. This area, unlike Redwood Canyon, for
the most part does not contain redwood forest, but was added for park opera-

tional support purposes.

SCOPE, ORGANIZATION, AND METHODOLOGY

Part I, “Land Use History of Muir Woods,” focuses on the site-specific history of
Muir Woods National Monument, and secondarily on the adjoining lands and
larger Mount Tamalpais region. This section of the report is organized into six
chapters, the first (pre-1883) providing an introduction to the natural environ-
ment and an overview of settlement and land-use during the rancho era, when
Redwood Canyon was part of a larger land holding known as Rancho Sausalito;
the second chapter (1883-1907) covers the period when Redwood Canyon became
a quasi-public park and was purchased by William Kent; the third chapter (1907-
1928) covers the establishment and early administration of Muir Woods National
Monument by the General Land Office and National Park Service under the
oversight of William Kent through his death in 1928; the fourth chapter (1928-
1953) covers the period of substantial park development through the work of the
Civilian Conservation Corps during the 1930s and early 1940s, corresponding
with the founding and development of Mount Tamalpais State Park; the fourth
chapter (1953-1984) discusses the monument’s development under the National
Park Service’s MISSION 66 program and during the growth of the environmental
era through 1984, when administration was folded into the Mount Tamalpais Unit
of Golden Gate National Recreation Area. The last chapter of the land-use history
is an epilogue that provides a brief overview of existing conditions and changes to

the park landscape since 1984.

The emphasis of the land-use history is on the lands within the National Monu-
ment boundary of Muir Woods, being those lands acquired up through 1958. The
Camp Monte Vista tract (also known as Camino del Canyon property), located
along a side canyon north of Frank Valley Road at the south end of Muir Woods,
was acquired by NPS between ¢.1974 and 1984 and does not have National
Monument status. Its history of use and development prior to 1974 is in large part
distinct from the monument, and therefore this portion of Muir Woods is treated
in a secondary manner, primarily as context for the monument proper. A detailed

history of its use and development is being separately studied and evaluated.?
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Research for Part I generally relied on secondary sources for contextual documen-
tation, such as the growth of Mill Valley and the development of rustic design in
the National Park Service, while primary resources provided much of the docu-
mentation on the physical development of the monument and adjoining parcels.
Key secondary sources included Lincoln Fairley’s Mount Tamalpais: A History
(1988); Barry Spitz’s Mill Valley: The Early Years (1997); Anna Coxe Toogood’s
“Historic Resource Study, A Civil History of Golden Gate National Recreation
Area and Point Reyes National Seashore” (1980); Elizabeth T. Kent’s “William
Kent, Independent, A Biography” (1950); and Wes Hildreth’s unpublished chro-
nology of Muir Woods (1966). Key repositories for primary documentation
included the history files at Muir Woods National Monument, public land records
at the Marin County Recorder’s Office in San Rafael, and monument records
housed at the park archives of Golden Gate National Recreation Area at the Pre-
sidio of San Francisco and at the National Archives II in College Park, Maryland

and the National Archives Pacific Region in San Bruno, California.

Part IT, “Muir Woods, William Kent, and the American Conservation Movement,”’
looks at the significance of Muir Woods in the history of the conservation move-
ment with special attention given to the role of William Kent. It examines the

way his gift of Muir Woods to the federal government reflects the various, and
sometimes conflicting, impulses behind efforts to preserve wild nature in early
twentieth-century America. This section of the report begins with a brief history
of the conservation movement before 1907, focusing especially on the preserva-
tion of Yosemite, Yellowstone, Niagara Falls, and the Adirondack wilderness and
the development of the philosophical, legal and administrative context that made
the preservation of Muir Woods possible. The next few sections explore William
Kent’s motivations for making the gift of Muir Woods to the federal government,
his development of Muir Woods as a tourist site before and after making the gift,
and the impact of his gift on efforts to preserve other scenic and forest areas, par-
ticularly other groves of redwoods. “Hetch Hetchy Versus Muir Woods” examines
the conflict between the preservationist and the utilitarian or “wise use” schools
of conservation by comparing the roles Kent played in the preservation of Muir
Woods and the damming of the Hetch Hetchy Valley. The next two sections sug-
gest the way Kent’s ongoing involvement in the management of Muir Woods after
it became a National Monument may have influenced his successful campaign as
a congressman to secure passage of the bill establishing the National Park Service.
The section on “Muir Woods and Kent’s Regional Plan for Mt. Tamalpais” shows
how the preservation of Muir Woods must be understood as part of Kent’s ambi-
tious plan to protect a much larger area for multiple public uses. “The Civilian
Conservation Corps and Park Development” recounts the contributions of the
CCC to the development of Muir Woods as a park, thus bringing Kent’s vision for

the site closer to reality. The final section, “Muir Woods as Sacred Grove and Me-
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morial Forest,” explores the way Muir Woods functioned as a venue for dedication
ceremonies, memorial services, picnics, and other special gatherings, with particu-
lar attention to the memorial service in 1945 for President Franklin D. Roosevelt

and its connections to conservation.

Research for Part II relied on secondary sources for background on the history of
the conservation movement and, whenever possible, on correspondence, news-
paper and magazine articles, speeches, and other primary sources for telling the
story of the preservation of Muir Woods, Kent’s role in it and in other preserva-
tion efforts, the history of the CCC in Muir Woods, and the background on the
memorial service for Franklin D. Roosevelt. Hal Rothman’s Preserving Different
Pasts: The American National Monuments (1989), Susan R. Schrepfer’s The Fight

to Save the Redwoods: A History of Environmental Reform, 1917-1978 (1983), and
Roderick Nash, “John Muir, William Kent, and the Conservation Schism” (1967)
furnished excellent background on the history of the National Monuments, the
preservation of the redwoods, and the conflict between Muir and Kent over
Hetch Hetchy. Stephen Fox, John Muir and His Legacy: The American Conserva-
tion Movement (1981), Roderick Nash, Wilderness and the American Mind (1967),
and Robert L. Dorman, “A People of Progress: The Marsh-Billings Park and the
Origins of Conservation in America, 1850-1930” (1997) provided information on
the broader context of the conservation movement. Elizabeth T. Kent’s “William
Kent, Independent, A Biography” (1950), supplemented Robert P. Danielson,
“The Story of William Kent” (1960) and Michael Willrich, “William Kent, 1864-
1928: The Life and Language of a Progressive Conservationist” (1987) in providing
biographical information on Kent. None of these is complete. No one has yet writ-
ten a full-scale biography of William Kent, who is a fascinating figure and deserves
a first-rate volume on his life. Lincoln Fairley’s Mount Tamalpais (1987), though
not always complete, provided background on the history of the Tamalpais region
and the activities of the CCC. Primary sources in Franklin D. Roosevelt & Conser-
vation, 1911-1945, ed. Edgar B. Nixon (1957) illuminated the connection between
FDR’s planning for an international conservation conference and the memorial
service held for him in Muir Woods. The records of the National Park Service
(RG79) at National Archives II in College Park, Maryland furnished the best single
source of primary documents on the history of Muir Woods. The extensive Kent
Family Papers at Yale University offered a rich source on Kent’s life and career.
The Gifford Pinchot Papers at the Library of Congress and the John Muir Papers,
available on microfilm at Harvard University and elsewhere, provided useful ad-

ditional documents.

Part III of the report contains recommendations regarding the historic signifi-
cance of Muir Woods National Monument based on the criteria for listing proper-

ties in the National Register of Historic Places, a program of the National Park
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Service. These recommendations are referenced to existing park cultural resource
surveys, notably the List of Classified Structures (LCS). Part III also includes
preliminary treatment recommendations, based on the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, for management, preservation,
and interpretation of historic resources within Muir Woods. Additional recom-
mendations are provided for adjoining areas or resources that are related func-

tionally or historically to Muir Woods.

HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF MUIR WOODS NATIONAL MONUMENT

PRE-1883

Prior to European settlement of the Marin Peninsula in the early nineteenth cen-
tury, Muir Woods National Monument and the surrounding lands of Redwood
Canyon were part of the homeland of the Coast Miwok people. Little archeologi-
cal evidence has been found on habitation in Redwood Canyon, but the Coast
Miwok most likely used the area for hunting, fishing, and gathering, and certainly
considered the redwood forest a part of their home. In the early nineteenth cen-
tury following soon after the establishment of Spanish missions at present-day San
Rafael in c.1817, the Coast Miwok people were decimated by European disease,
and by 1840, their population was reduced by an estimated ninety per cent.’ In
1836, much of the Marin Peninsula, including Redwood Canyon, had been grant-
ed by the Mexican government to William Antonio Richardson, who named the
land “Rancho Sausalito.” Richardson maintained most of the ranch as open graz-
ing lands, although forested areas were logged, particularly after the San Francisco
Gold Rush of 1849. In 1856, Richardson sold most of Rancho Sausalito to Samuel
R. Throckmorton, who rented out subdivided parcels to farmers. Throckmorton
retained a large unsubdivided area encompassing Redwood Canyon and extend-
ing north to the upper reaches of Mount Tamalpais as his own private hunting
preserve. Although most of the remaining redwood groves on the Marin Peninsula
were being logged during Throckmorton’s ownership of Rancho Sausalito, he
chose to retain the forest in Redwood Canyon. In 1883, Throckmorton died and
left his debt-ridden estate, which included 14,000 acres of the ranch, to his daugh-

ter, Susanna Throckmorton.

1883-1907

Unable to pay off her father’s debts, Susannah Throckmorton sold Rancho
Sausalito in 1889 to the Tamalpais Land & Water Company, which set about plans
to develop the ranch lands along the east side of Marin County into the communi-
ty of Mill Valley; on the west side, the company continued to rent out the subdi-
vided ranch lands, but retained Samuel Throckmorton’s hunting preserve, includ-
ing Redwood Canyon, as undivided lands and granted their use to the Tamalpais

Sportsman’s Association. With the help of one of their prominent members, Wil-
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liam Kent, the club cared for the redwood forest through the turn of the century
during a time of increasing visitation. Much of this increased activity had resulted
from development in the region by the Tamalpais Land & Water Company and
rail access to the summit of Mount Tamalpais. By the turn of the century, devel-
opment pressures were increasing, including a proposal to dam Redwood Creek
and destroy part of the redwood forest. At the same time, local conservation and
hiking groups began to press for public acquisition of Mount Tamalpais. These
pressures and his own conservation sensibilities led William Kent to acquire 612
acres of Redwood Canyon in 1905 to safeguard its redwood forest and improve its
accessibility to the public. Together with the Mill Valley and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic
Railway (known as the mountain railway), Kent developed Redwood Canyon
into a public park with rail access (a new branch line was built to the north end of
Redwood Canyon), improved road access, and visitor amenities such as footpaths,
bridges, and benches, all designed in a rustic style then typical for parks and for-
ested landscapes. An inn at the terminus of the mountain railway, which formed

the main entrance to the park, was also planned as part of the improvements.

1907-1928

In the fall of 1907, a year after the great earthquake in San Francisco raised the de-
mand for water supply and timber, a private water company, the North Coast Wa-
ter Company, filed condemnation proceedings for takeover of forty-seven acres
of William Kent’s Redwood Canyon tract in order to build a reservoir. Building of
the reservoir would have flooded the upper portion of the canyon floor, requir-
ing logging of many of the big redwoods, dividing of the park into two separate
parts, and destruction of improvements made by Kent and the mountain railway.
In order to circumvent the condemnation proceedings and secure the long-term
preservation of the redwood forest, Kent gifted 298 acres of his 612-acre Red-
wood Canyon tract to the federal government on December 26, 1907, a gift that
excluded the terminus of the mountain railway. On January 9%, 1908, the 298-acre
tract was declared a National Monument by President Theodore Roosevelt under
the provisions of the Antiquities Act of 1906, the tenth National Monument so
designated and the only one in proximity of a major city. Kent chose the name
Muir Woods National Monument after the noted wilderness preservationist, John
Muir, who lived in Martinez across the San Pablo Bay from Marin County. Muir
had no known association with Redwood Canyon aside from a visit he had made
there in 1904, nor had Kent met Muir at the time. Despite the monument designa-
tion, the North Coast Water Company continued with its legal suit for another
year, but then dropped it. Muir Woods National Monument was managed through
the General Land Office within the Department of the Interior up until 1917. Dur-
ing this time, the GLO made few improvements to Muir Woods, and it was largely
managed by the mountain railway and William Kent. In 1917, management of Muir

Woods was transferred to the National Park Service (NPS), created by Congress
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the year before to improve the management of federal parks then administered by
awide array of agencies. For the next decade, the NPS took the lead in manage-
ment of Muir Woods, although the mountain railway and William Kent continued
to play key roles. Administration was carried out through Yosemite National Park
and regional NPS offices in San Francisco. In 1921, William Kent donated 150 acres
for expansion of the monument. Improvements during this time included the
addition of signs, an entrance gate, new footbridges, a residence for the custodian,
and comfort stations, all designed according to a particular rustic style developed
by the National Park Service and employed at other forested parks in the region,
notably Sequoia National Park and Yosemite. A parking area was also formed at
the south entrance on lands belonging to William Kent, with access from the Muir
Woods Toll Road, which had been built by Kent and the mountain railway in 1925.

1928-1954

In 1928, William Kent died, coinciding with the financial decline of the mountain
railway due to automobile competition. A fire in 1929 destroyed the branch line
to Muir Woods, and the following year, the railway went out of business. With the
closure of the railway, the main entrance to Muir Woods shifted almost entirely
to the automobile entrance at the south end of the monument. Kent’s death and
closure of the mountain railway gave NPS full charge for the administration of
Muir Woods. Much of the land bordering Muir Woods that had been owned by
William Kent became part of Mount Tamalpais State Park, established in 1930. Be-
ginning in 1933 and lasting through 1941, the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC)
undertook extensive improvement work both in Muir Woods and the state park,
based out of a camp located on the site of the railway terminus. Many of the CCC
improvements to Muir Woods were built to accommodate increasing visitation,
which had jumped markedly with the opening of the Muir Woods Toll Road in
1925 and adjoining Panoramic Highway in 1928. The completion of the Golden
Gate Bridge in 1937 swelled visitation even more. Work by the CCC, designed
mostly by NPS regional architects and landscape architects, included massive log
footbridges over Redwood Creek, a stone-faced arch bridge over Fern Creek, a
log entrance gate, improved trails, a redesigned parking area at the south entrance
on state park land, new signs and picnic facilities, and several new buildings, all
designed in a romantic rustic style employing features such as log construction,
exposed timber framing, hand-hewn signs, and naturalistic plantings. In 1940, the
largest building at Muir Woods to date—the Administration-Concession Build-
ing—was completed by the CCC in a streamlined rustic style that was a departure
from the earlier development in the monument. It was sited on a one-acre expan-
sion that had been incorporated into the monument through a proclamation by
President Franklin D. Roosevelt in 1935. Improvements at Muir Woods ceased
during World War II, but the monument continued to be a popular place to visit.

In what would become the most famous gathering at Muir Woods, the United

10



INTRODUCTION

Nations Organizing Committee held a ceremony in Cathedral Grove in honor

of FDR in May 1945, a month after his death. Following World War II, a parcel
was acquired at the south end and west side of the monument (including the first
monument lands without significant redwood forest), but few physical improve-
ments were undertaken. By the early 1950s, visitation ballooned after a period of

relative stability during the 1940s.

1953-1984

The large increases in visitation to Muir Woods of the early 1950s led to significant
crowding that strained the improvements made by the CCC, which had suffered
due to lack of maintenance and funding during the war and post-war years. This
situation set the stage for a new era of development, coinciding with broad shifts
in design, natural resource management, and planning throughout the National
Park System. In 1956, NPS launched a ten-year improvement program coined
“MISSION 66,” and park staff developed an ambitious plan for Muir Woods
which included removing development from within the woods, building a visitor
center and employee housing, expanding parking, and acquiring additional land
for park support purposes. Muir Woods realized few of these improvements, but
did build a new parking area and acquired additional land at the south end of the
monument along Frank Valley Road. The park also removed many features built
by the CCC, including comfort stations, signs, bridges, and the main gate, and built
anew comfort station and footbridges that represented a marked departure from
the romantic rustic style of the CCC era. In 1972, legislation was passed authoriz-
ing NPS to acquire land for park support purposes south of the monument in the
Camp Monte Vista tract, which had been developed earlier for youth camps and
private residences. This period also saw the expansion of Mount Tamalpais State
Park to encompass nearly all of the land surrounding Muir Woods, as well as the
creation in 1972 of a metropolitan regional park system, Golden Gate National
Recreation Area. Muir Woods was incorporated into this new park system, and
by 1984 it had become fully integrated into it for administrative purposes. Despite
this, Muir Woods National Monument retained its identity as a distinct park unit.
It was also in ¢.1984 that the last parcels of land were acquired by NPS in the
Camp Monte Vista tract, which unlike earlier expansions of Muir Woods, did not

receive National Monument status.

1984-PRESENT

In the years since land acquisition in Camp Monte Vista was completed, there
have been few significant changes in the management or appearance of Muir
Woods National Monument. The most noticeable change has been the conversion
of open grasslands and chaparral along Frank Valley Road and the upper edges

of the monument to forest as a result of natural succession. Within the monu-

ment, NPS has made several improvements to better safeguard the forest from

1
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the impact of heavy visitation, including a new sewage system and the addition of
boardwalks along the main trail. In addition, the park has returned to its legacy of
rustic design with the construction of a new visitor center in 1989 and main gate in
1990.

ENDNOTES

! Historic Resource Study definition, in National Park Service, “Cultural Resources Management
Guideline” (NPS-28,1998), 25.

% See Bright Eastman, “National Register of Historic Places Determination of Eligibility (DOE),
Camino del Canyon Property, Golden Gate National Recreation Area (GGNRA), Marin County,
California” (Unpublished report prepared for the National Park Service, September 2004), Park
Historian’s files, Fort Mason, San Francisco (will be deposited at a future date in the Park Archive
and Record Center, Building Presidio 667). NPS is also planning on drafting a separate DOE for a
portion of the Camp Monte Vista Tract known as Druid Heights.

3 The Coast Miwok nevertheless survived the ravages of a colonial history and today, with the
people of Southern Pomo descent, make up a federally recognized tribe called the Federated
Indians of Graton Rancheria.
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Section title page photograph: NPS Region 4 “in-service” training meeting at main gate (1934),
December 1941. National Archives I, College Park, Maryland, RG 79, PI 166, E7, Central Classified
Files, 1933-1949, Muir Woods, box 2293.
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Figure 1.1: Panorama of the Marin
Peninsula with Mount Tamalpais
in the distance, looking north
across the Golden Gate from the
developing city of San Francisco,
1862. Detail, C. B. Gifford, “San
Francisco...From Russian Hill” (San
Francisco: A. Rosenfield, c¢.1862),
Library of Congress, David Rumsey
Collection, map 2314.

he forest of coast redwoods today known as Muir Woods traces its an-

cestry in the narrow canyon on Mount Tamalpais back many thousands

of years. Until relatively recently in its long history, human use of the for-
est was probably at most occasional. Even after extensive European settlement of
the Bay Area during the nineteenth century, the redwood forest remained seclud-
ed, prized by its owners as a place of private refuge. By the 1890s, however, hikers
and tourists were coming to visit what had become one of only a few remaining
old-growth redwood forests in the Bay Area, spurring efforts for conservation and
public access that led to its designation as Muir Woods National Monument in
1908. The beauty, renown, and accessibility of this place—so close to San Francis-
co yet retaining much of its wild character—swelled visitation into the hundreds
of thousands by the late 1920s, and to more than a million by the 1970s.

The history of the use and development of Muir Woods National Monument has
largely been a story of conservation—of balancing use of the woods for public
benefit with protection of its natural resources. Today, the redwood forest contin-
ues to live much as it has for thousands of years, but beneath the towering trees,
the underlying infrastructure of park development has seen continual change
over the past one hundred years, illustrating evolving conservation practices and
changing attitudes toward building and landscape design within a natural environ-

ment.
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CHAPTER 1
NATIVE ENVIRONMENT & THE RANCHO ERA, PRE-1883

uir Woods National Monument preserves a small part of the na-

tive landscape of the Marin Peninsula, a rugged land extending

north from the straits of the Golden Gate. Up until the mid-nine-
teenth century, the entire Bay Area was sparsely developed, characterized by
expansive areas of forest, chaparral, and grassland. This changed as San Francisco
boomed into a major city in the second half of the nineteenth century, but across
the Golden Gate, the Marin Peninsula remained remote and largely undeveloped
during this time. With its highlands rising dramatically from the surrounding wa-
ters and culminating in the rocky peaks of Mount Tamalpais, the Marin Peninsula
formed an apparent pristine natural backdrop to the city. [Figure 1.1] Despite its
appearance from afar, several communities had grown up in Marin by this time
along the shore of San Francisco and San Pablo Bays, following roads and rail-
roads connecting by ferry to San Francisco. Most of the redwood forests had also
been logged. Into the late nineteenth century, the western half of the peninsula
surrounding Muir Woods, generally referred to as West Marin, remained largely
inaccessible, used primarily as dairy ranches and private hunting lands within a

Mexican-era grant of land known as Rancho Sausalito.

NATURAL SETTING

West Marin is today still characterized predominantly by sparse development and
expansive tracts of natural lands, thanks in large part to the rough character of the
natural topography, restrictive early land ownership, and a strong conservation
movement that began in the early twentieth century and continues to the present

day.

THE LAND

The extent of redwood forest at Muir Woods is closely related to the natural
topography and climate. The regional climate of the San Francisco Bay Area is
generally characterized as Mediterranean, with cool, wet winters and mild, dry
summers. Redwood Canyon, the valley in which Muir Woods is located, forms

a wetter and cooler micro climate due to its location two miles inland from the
Pacific Ocean and its northeastern-facing, deep and narrow topography. Mois-
ture from heavy fogs that roll in from the Pacific moderates the dryness of the
summers, providing an important part of the average thirty-five to sixty inches
of annual precipitation. The fogs, which generally reach from 100 to 1,700 feet in
altitude, are a key factor in the high levels of humidity that persist along northeast-
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ern-facing slopes and canyon floors, typically ranging from eighty to one-hundred

percent humidity in winter, and fifty to eighty percent in summer.'

Muir Woods shares the rugged nature of the land that characterizes much of the

Marin Peninsula, a mountainous region that rises abruptly from the coastline,

except along the flats of its eastern shores along San Francisco and San Pablo Bays.

[Figure 1.2] The rugged character of Marin has long been cherished, as William H.

Brewer, working for the California Geological Survey, described upon an expedi-

tion there in 1862:

The whole region between the bay and the sea is thrown up into rough and very

steep ridges, 1,000 to 1,600 feet high, culminating in a steep, sharp, rocky peak
about four or five miles southwest of San Rafael, over 2,600 feet high, called

Tamalpais...We climbed up the rocks, and just as we reached the highest crag the

fog began to clear away. Then came glimpses of the beautiful landscape through

the fog. It was most grand, more like some views in the Alps than anything I have

seen before—those glimpses of the landscape beneath through foggy curtains. But

now the fog and clouds rolled away and we had a glorious view indeed—the

Figure 1.2: Topographic relief map
of the Marin Peninsula showing
location of Muir Woods relative between them.?
to major landforms. Detail, United

States Geologic Survey, San

Francisco topographic relief map
(c.2000), annotated by SUNY ESF.

Mount
Tamalpais
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ocean on the west, the bay around, the green hills beneath with lovely valleys

Mount Tamalpais (the mountain was also called Table Hill or Table Mountain

into the 1880s) is the highest mountain on the Marin Peninsula, and is clearly

visible from much of the Bay Area.?
Two miles to the north of Muir Woods
are its three peaks: the East Peak, at
2,571 feet above sea level, the lesser
Middle Peak at 2,450 feet, and the
West Peak, at 2,574 feet.* North and
west of Mount Tamalpais is the long
Bolinas Ridge, and to the south, the
Marin Headlands that terminate at the
Golden Gate. [Figure 1.2] All are part
of the Coast Range, a narrow band of
low mountains along four hundred
miles of coastline on the western edge
of the North American tectonic plate.
The range, divided into north and
south sections at the Golden Gate,

is characterized by bedrock formed
from ancient sea floor sediments and

igneous rock that was heavily folded
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Figure 1.3: Natural setting of
Muir Woods National Monument
showing major landforms and
hydrological features on the
southwestern flank of Mount

Tamalpais. Names shown are those
currently in use. SUNY ESF, based
on USGS Point Bonitas quadrangle
(1993) and Tom Harrison, “Mt Tam
Trail Map” (2003).

and uplifted due to lateral slipping along the juncture of the North American and
Pacific plates. The convergent boundary between these two plates runs along the
western edge of the Coast Range, and in Marin is part of the well-known San An-
dreas Fault. The bedrock of the Coast Range is classified as Franciscan Complex,
composed primarily of light-colored shales and greywacke sandstones that are
subject to landslides and erosion, forces that have formed the rounded ridges and

steep canyons that characterize the Marin Peninsula today.’

Redwood Canyon is one of the main valleys on the southwestern flank of Mount
Tamalpais. [Figure 1.3] It was formed over thousands of years by the south trend-
ing course of Redwood Creek, a five mile-long stream that is the primary drainage
for a watershed of nine square miles. The creek begins at the juncture of Rattle-
snake and Bootjack Creeks just north of the boundary of Muir Woods, and is
joined by three major tributaries: Fern Creek within Muir Woods, and Kent Can-
yon Creek and Green Gulch Creek to the south [Figure 1.3]. Redwood Creek was
naturally characterized by flat water flowing over gravel, with small pools. Fern
Creek, the other major stream within Muir Woods, is a smaller perennial stream,
and unlike Redwood Creek, drops quickly in elevation through a canyon by the
same name, across small waterfalls and rapids from the watershed below the
Middle Peak of Mount Tamalpais. In addition to Fern Creek, a number of small,
unnamed intermittent streams cascade down the side walls of the canyon within
Muir Woods. Redwood Creek empties into the Pacific Ocean at Muir Beach, four

miles distant from the monument.
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Here, Redwood Creek seasonally
forms a tidal brackish estuary as
low water levels allow sandbars

to build up at the creek’s mouth,
backing up the water.® The estuary,
once more extensive, was earlier

known as Big Lagoon.

Overall elevations within Muir
Woods National Monument ex-
tend from a low of 120 feet above
sea level at the south end of the
canyon near Frank Valley Road, to
a high of 1,340 feet at the north-
western corner of the monument
near the Dipsea Trail [Figure 1.3].
Within the monument, the canyon
floor follows a relatively gentle

grade, dropping approximately fifty
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Figure 1.4: Oblique aerial
photograph of Mount Tamalpais
looking northeast over Muir
Woodes, illustrating forest cover
within approximate monument
boundaries and adjoining areas of
grassland and chaparral, ¢.1990.
Most of the forest cover within
Muir Woods is coast redwood.
James Morley, Muir Woods: The
Ancient Redwood Forest Near San

Francisco (San Francisco: Smith-
Morley, 1991), 5, annotated by
SUNY ESF.
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feet in the half mile from the north boundary to the parking area, an overall slope
of two percent. At the upper end of the canyon, the valley floor is narrow and di-
vides into a number of smaller side canyons, the most significant being Fern Creek
Canyon. The sidewalls of Redwood Canyon throughout Muir Woods are steep,
with characteristic grades upwards of sixty-five percent.” The warmer and dryer
southwestern-facing canyon wall extends up to Throckmorton (Panoramic) Ridge
that forms the eastern edge of West Marin, but the monument boundary is low on
this wall, corresponding to the limits of the old-growth redwoods. In contrast, the
cooler and wetter northeastern-facing wall of the canyon, nearly all redwood for-
est, is almost entirely within the monument, the boundary of which extends to the
Dipsea Ridge that separates Redwood Canyon from adjoining Kent Canyon. At

its northwest corner, the monument extends over the ridge top and into the upper
end of Kent Canyon. At the opposite end of the monument east of Muir Woods
Road, the southeastern annex once known as Camp Monte Vista is centered along
a minor side canyon. Here southeast of the parking area, Redwood Canyon ends
and the land broadens out into Frank Valley, through which Redwood Creek flows
to the Pacific Ocean.

THE REDWOOD FOREST

Redwoods are, of course, the dominant features of Muir Woods, forming an

expansive but isolated grove within the cool and moist microclimate of Redwood

’ Canyon. It is one of the

| few old-growth or virgin
(unlogged) redwood for-
ests to survive in the San
Francisco Bay Area.® Not

far from Muir Woods are

Middle Peak East Peak

two smaller old-growth
forests, including one to
the northwest in Steep
Ravine within Mount

Tamalpais State Park (a

Fern Creek
Canyon

grove once considered for
inclusion in Muir Woods
National Monument), and
another on the north-

i e western side of Mount

: Tamalpais in Samuel P.
Taylor State Park, near
Lagunitas. Throughout
the monument, redwoods

Approximate Monument boundary

border or are intermixed
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with Douglas-fir. Other forest and plant communities found in the
monument include chaparral (a shrub association), grasslands, and

deciduous woods, mostly along the upper boundaries and on the creek

2| SEQUOIA SEMPERVIRENS

COAST REDWOOD flats at the south end of the canyon. [Figure 1.4] Prior to extensive log-
_/ - ging that occurred in the mid-nineteenth century, the Marin Peninsula

had large areas of redwood, Douglas-fir, and mixed deciduous forest. In

1
i

R S Weest Marin, the redwood forests were less extensive than in East Marin,

restricted mostly to canyons and along creeks. The dominant vegetation
on the highlands of the Marin Peninsula was grassland. A hunter who
crossed the lower peninsula in 1847, prior to significant development,
recorded, “...there was no timber to be seen, and except the stunted un-
dergrowth netted together in the valleys and ravines, all was one rolling

scene of grass, wild oats and flowers.”

The redwoods at Muir Woods are the coast redwood, Sequoia

sempervirens. They belong to the taxodium family, but are a distinct spe-
DISTRIBUTION MAP
Rt cies from their well-known and larger cousin, the giant sequoia, Sequoi-

255 L0l ¥

adendron giganteum, found in the Sierra Mountains two hundred miles
Figure 1.5: Distribution of coast to the southeast, most famously in Yosemite National Park. [Figure 1.5]

redwood and giant sequoia (here The coast redwood grows in the so-called narrow fog belt along the Pacific Coast
noted as Sierra redwood). National
Park Service, ¢.1935, published

in James Shirley, The Redwoods rized as part of the Central Redwood Forests, Marin Hills and Valleys Subsection.

of Coast and Sierra (Berkeley:

from southwestern Oregon to central California. Those at Muir Woods are catego-

Unlike the extensive northern redwood forests in wetter and cooler northern
University of California Press,

1936), 18 California, the central redwood forests are in a drier region and are therefore re-

stricted to moist, narrow canyons or northeasterly-facing slopes, often growing in

Figure 1.6: Characteristic old-growth L . .
d ; : 9 close association with a Douglas-fir/tanoak forest. The coast redwood is the tallest
redwood forest in Muir Woods

illustrating a family circle and fire tree species in North America, reaching mature heights of two hundred to well

scars. James Morley, Muir Woods: over three hundred feet, but it is a relatively slender tree compared with the giant

The Ancient Redwood Forest Near . . . s
. . . sequoia, with trunks generally not exceeding twenty feet in diameter at breast
San Francisco (San Francisco: Smith-

Morley, 1991), 20. height. It is also a very long-lived tree, with a potential lifespan of more
R -

than two thousand years. '’

At Muir Woods, the redwood forest extends along the canyon floor
north beyond the monument, across most of the northeastern-facing
canyon wall up to the Dipsea Trail, and along portions of the lower
southwest-facing wall and adjoining side canyons extending to the
Ocean View Trail. In these areas, the redwoods thrive in a cool mi-
croclimate with loamy soils and ample moisture from fog, rain, and
groundwater. The canyon floor bordering Redwood Creek gener-
ally contains the largest and most widely spaced trees. [Figure 1.6] In
circumference, the largest tree at Muir Woods today measures 13.5
feet in diameter at breast height, while the tallest tree is 254 feet high.
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Figure 1.7: Characteristic

younger redwood forest along
the Oceanview Trail, on upper
southwest side of Redwood

Canyon. James Morley, Muir Woods:

The Ancient Redwood Forest Near
San Francisco (San Francisco: Smith-
Morley, 1991), 30.

Although most of the old trees in Muir Woods are probably five to six hundred
years old, a few old specimens may be upward of 1,500 years in age."' Many of the
trees that grew from bud tissue of parent trees (rather than from seedlings) trace
their genetic lineage back much farther. The great height, age, and visual beauty of
the coast redwoods at Muir Woods has often inspired poetic descriptions, as one
writer for the federal Works Progress Administration waxed in 1940: “Their clean,
gently tapering shafts, clothed with thick, purplish, massively fluted bark, rise
uninterrupted by branches for approximately a third of their height. The foliage

is delicate and feathery, but dense enough to keep perpetual twilight on the forest

floor1?

Old-growth redwoods have a number of other traits that give the forest a dis-
tinctive character. First is their resistance to rot due to high levels of tannic acid,
which not only allows the trees to attain great age, but also permits stumps, snags,
and fallen trees to survive centuries. The redwoods also have a high resistance to
LI | fire, due to the thickness and high moisture
level in their bark, so that many trees retain
evidence of charring from fires extinguished
centuries ago. While mature trees often survive
moderate ground fires, they can succumb

to high-intensity fires, especially those that
envelop the entire canopy. Lastly, the ability
of redwoods to reproduce from underground
bud tissue often results in formations known
as “family circles,” characterized by a ring of
younger trees surrounding either the site or ancient stump of the parent tree [see
Figure 1.6]."* Old-growth redwood forests also support a rich variety of understory
plants, including sword fern (Nephrolepsis exaltata), huckleberry (Gaylussacia),
redwood sorrel (Oxalis spp.), tanoak (Lithocarpus densiflorus), and California bay
or laurel (Umbellularia californica)."* Along creeks in the woods, big-leaf maple
(Acer macrophyllum) is common. Young redwood forests—those that have grown
up in the past one hundred years or so— tend to occur on the upper margins of
the old growth where grass and brush fires were historically common, but which
have been suppressed over the past century. These forests generally have a less
diverse and shrubbier understory, and lack the distinctive old-growth formations.
They are characterized by a relatively high density and even distribution of trees,

and a lower canopy. [Figure 1.7]

As the climate in Redwood Canyon becomes warmer and drier at higher and
more southerly-facing elevations, the redwoods generally transition to Douglas-fir
(Pseudotsuga mengziesii). Douglas-fir is also a large conifer, reaching over two hun-

dred feet tall (the tallest tree in the monument, which recently fell, was a Douglas-

22



LanD-Use History, PReE-1883

Figure 1.8: Photograph of a grove of
California buckeye on the floodplain
between the main and lower parking
areas. James Morley, Muir Woods:
The Ancient Redwood Forest Near
San Francisco (San Francisco: Smith-

Morley, 1991), 70.

fir), but unlike the redwood, is a preclimax tree
that generally does not exceed four hundred
years in age. This is due in large part to the fact
that, unlike the redwood, its wood is not rot

or insect resistant. At Muir Woods, the tree is
found in small, pure stands along and north of
the southern ridge near the Dipsea Trail, and
on the lower north slope east of Fern Creek, as
well as scattered within the redwoods."* Along
the floodplain of Redwood Creek where the
canyon broadens out at the southern end of the
monument, the vegetation takes on a much dif-
ferent character. [Figure 1.8] It is generally dominated by smaller, deciduous trees
and broadleaf evergreens such as California bay (laurel) and tanoak, plus Cali-
fornia buckeye (desculus californica), coast live oaks (Quercus agrifolia), Pacific

madrone (Arbutus mengziesii), and red alder (Alnus rubra).'®

Common trees of the mixed deciduous and broad-leaf evergreen forest found
throughout Mount Tamalpais and along the margins of Muir Woods National
Monument include species such as the tanoak already mentioned, plus dogwood,
willows, junipers, cottonwoods, pines, and cedars. Chaparral is a climax shrub
community of fire-adapted broadleaf evergreens, generally occurring on poor,
dry soils in central and southern California. The name is derived from the Spanish
chapa, meaning scrub oak. The most common species in chaparral that is subject
to burn cycles of more than twenty years include manzanita (Arctostaphylos spp.),
ceanothus (Ceanothus spp.), and scrub oak (Quercus berberidifolia). Grasslands
typically are found on exposed but less arid areas, such as ridges, and are much
less extensive than prior to the arrival of Europeans, probably due to the reduc-
tion of fires. Common grasses include needlegrasses (Stipa spp.), fescues (Festuca
spp.), barleys (Horedum spp.), and brome grasses (Bromus spp.).'” Many of these
have been overwhelmed by non-native introductions in the region, including oat
grass (Avena spp.) and the brome grasses. Another common introduced species is
the eucalyptus tree (Eucalyptus spp.), now considered an invasive and being eradi-

cated from natural areas of the mountain.'®

The existing redwood forest and surrounding plant communities have witnessed
considerable change brought on by humans, especially since the arrival of Euro-
peans in the eighteenth century. Cyclical change, however, was also a major part
of the native environment. The most formidable force for such change was fire,
with three to five major fires occurring each century prior to the arrival of Euro-
peans, some possibly set by Native Americans. The last recorded major fire within

Redwood Canyon occurred in ¢.1845, which along with earlier fires produced the
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charring on the old-growth redwoods still visible today.'” Such fires, along with
grazing, played a major role in the balance between forest cover, chaparral, and
grassland. By the early twentieth century, a system of fire suppression was altering
the natural balance, most notably by allowing redwoods and Douglas-fir to extend
their range into chaparral and grassland. The elimination of grazing on the grass-
lands by the 1960s further accelerated the reduction of grassland.?* The redwood
forest and its understory have also changed, especially over the past century since
the beginning of heavy visitation and park use on the floor of Redwood Canyon.
This impact, however, has been greatly reduced over the past three decades by
more strictly controlled access, which has reduced soil compaction and trampling
of the understory. Despite these natural and cultural changes, the existing old-
growth redwoods at Muir Woods represent a plant community that has largely
retained its location and general character for hundreds and perhaps thousands of

years.

As with the flora, the fauna of Mount Tamalpais and Redwood Canyon has seen
significant change, particularly over the past one hundred years. Large mammals
have experienced the biggest fluctuations, including the disappearance and near
elimination of bear, elk, mountain lion, and coyote. Deer remain plentiful, as do
small mammals such as squirrels, raccoons, foxes, bobcats, and skunks. In win-
ter when Redwood Creek is swollen, coho salmon and steelhead trout return to
its gravel beds to spawn, but in far fewer numbers than prior to development of

Mount Tamalpais and human manipulation of the creek.

THE COAST MIWOK

The Marin Peninsula, with its rich and diverse environment, was the homeland of
the Coast Miwok people for centuries prior to the arrival of the first Europeans.
As with all Native Americans, the Coast Miwok considered the land to belong to
all people; private or individual land ownership was a foreign concept, introduced
by Europeans. The land, in addition to providing subsistence, also held great
spiritual meaning, with Mount Tamalpais and the redwood forests figuring promi-
nently in Coast Miwok identity. The name Tamalpais is most probably of Miwok
origin, meaning “coast mountain” (early European explorers and settlers called
the Miwok by the name “Tamal Indians”). The Miwok believed that the summit
was a dangerous place inhabited by spirits, and therefore not to be visited. It is not
known if the Miwok held similar spiritual associations with the redwoods, which

they called cho-lay. *'

The Coast Miwok were part of a larger linguistic family that included the Bay and
Sierra Miwoks, who together lived across a region from San Francisco Bay east to-

ward to the Sierra Nevada. The earliest evidence of Coast Miwok habitation in the
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Marin area, found along shores of San Francisco and San Pablo Bays, dates back
7,000 years.?> Around the time of European contact in the eighteenth century,
total Miwok population has been estimated at 22,000, less than ten percent being
Coast Miwok.” There were an estimated fifteen independent Coast Miwok tribes
at this time in Marin County and the adjoining county to the north, Sonoma. The
tribe of Coast Miwok who inhabited the Redwood Creek watershed is known as

the Huimen.**

The Coast Miwok were tideland and riverine hunters and gatherers who lived
primarily off fish, shellfish, nuts (mostly acorns from the abundant oaks), greens,
berries, and game, making use of the rocky shore, mud flats, and upland creek
terraces and canyon floors. They may have set periodic fires to maintain grass-
lands. The annual salmon runs, such as in Redwood Creek, provided a large part
of the Coast Miwok subsistence. They lived in conical houses framed with poles
and sheathed in bark and grasses, generally in hamlets consisting of extended
family units.” These hamlets were mostly located along the bays, although several
may have been on or near running streams in the interior. More typical along the
inland streams were seasonal residences and camps, usually where two tributaries
joined near oaks and buckeyes. It is thought that the seasonal residences were in
use particularly during salmon runs. Although the Miwok relied heavily on water-
ways for transportation, they also used paths and trails, which generally followed

streams and ridges.*

Within and near Muir Woods National Monument, no archeological evidence has
been found of Coast Miwok (Huimen) habitation. The nearest evidence suggest-
ing a habitation site has been found at Muir Beach, near the mouth of Redwood
Creek.?”” Known villages in the vicinity were on Bolinas Bay to the northwest,
present-day San Rafael to the northeast, and Sausalito to the southeast. Although
the Coast Miwok may not have lived within Muir Woods, they certainly knew

the land well, and their paths probably crossed the forest, probably following

the alignments of some of the current trails along the creeks and ridges, such as
the main (Bootjack) Fern Creek, and Dipsea trails. The Coast Miwok most likely
used the forest for hunting, fishing, and gathering, in keeping with their regional
land-use patterns. Archeological findings of a blade and point on the canyon floor
in the Bohemian Grove and on the ridge near the Dipsea Trail provide possible
evidence of hunting in the area.?® Tradition also states that there was an Indian
“camp site” near the confluence of Redwood and Fern Creeks, near where a log
cabin was later erected, although this has never been confirmed through archeo-

logical evidence.”
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EUROPEAN SETTLEMENT: MISSIONS AND RANCHOS

As with nearly all Native American peoples, the arrival of Europeans had a dev-
astating effect on the Coast Miwok population and culture. Although the Coast
Miwok may have made contact with Francis Drake, the first European to land on
the Marin Peninsula in 1579, and subsequent explorers, it was not until Euro-
pean settlement began in the mid-eighteenth century that they would feel the full
impact of colonialism. In 1776, the Spanish established a fort and mission at what
would later become San Francisco, and forced Miwoks to work and live there.
Exposed to European diseases for which they had no immunity, many Miwoks
died. By 1793, a Spanish expedition was sent out from San Francisco to explore the
nearby but unchartered Marin Peninsula, purportedly named after a Miwok chief.
Settlement within Marin, however, did not begin until about 1817, when the Span-
ish erected an asistencia or hospital (relief) mission on the northern bay side of
Marin, dedicated as Mission San Rafael Arcangel. The mission took over control
of most of the land and converted an estimated 3,000 Miwok into the 1830s. The
mission lands were supposed to go to the Miwok, but instead were sold to land
speculators and ranchers. As at the San Francisco mission, the Miwok were deci-
mated by European disease, and forcibly relocated; the mission life, together with
other European cultural influences, destroyed their traditional lifeways. By 1840,
Marin’s Miwok population had been reduced by an estimated ninety percent. The
decimation of the Miwok coincided with marked changes in the native landscape.
On the old Miwok homeland, the Spanish introduced agriculture, including
livestock (cattle, horses, and sheep) that grazed over much of the peninsula, and
crops, such as oats, that proved invasive in the native grassland ecosystem. Some
logging of the redwood forests was also begun. The first recorded large-scale log-
ging in Marin was begun near the Mission San Rafael Archangel in 1816, to supply

timber for the Presidio of San Francisco.*®

The political environment was also evolving during the early nineteenth century,
leading to changes in land ownership and expanded land uses and settlement.

In 1822, Spain lost control of California to Mexico, and then in 1833-34, control
of mission lands was transferred to the Mexican government, which in turn sold
the lands to private owners through large grants. In Marin, the first land grant
occurred in 1834 on the southeastern part of the peninsula that included part of
present-day Mill Valley. This land was granted to David Reed, considered the first
English-speaking resident of the Marin Peninsula who had arrived in the region in
1826. On his 4,428-acre grant, Reed established a livestock ranch (known locally
as rancho) and expanded logging operations on the land that had begun nearly
two decades earlier, building a saw mill that would later give the area its name.
Reed named his grant Rancho de Corte Madera del Presidio, referring to the lum-

bering that had taken place there for the Presidio.?!
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Figure 1.9: Detail, 1860 map of
Marin County illustrating limits of
Rancho Sausalito, originally granted
to William Antonio Richardson

in 1838. Map reproduced in Fred
Sandrock, “The Trails Make the
Maps” (Mount Tamalpais Historic
Project Newsletter, summer 1984, 3),
annotated by SUNY ESF.

Figure 1.10: Watercolor from William
Meyer’s 1842 journal describing his
expedition to the Bay Area, showing
large game in open grasslands and
forested canyons characteristic of the
Marin Peninsula. Courtesy University
of California, Berkeley, Bancroft
Library.

RICHARDSON’S RANCHO SAUSALITO

In 1836, the Marin Peninsula south of Mount Tamalpais,
including Redwood Canyon, was acquired by an Eng-
lishman, William Antonio Richardson, who is best
known as a founder of the Yerba Buena, later renamed
San Francisco. In 1838, Richardson received an official
grant for the land from the Mexican government, and
named it Rancho Sausalito (also spelled Saucelito), mean-
ing “little willow ranch.” The grant covered 19,571 acres
extending over most of the lower Marin Peninsula, from
the Pacific Ocean to San Francisco Bay on the southeast,
and from the Golden Gate north to the summit of Mount
Tamalpais. It bordered Reed’s Rancho de Corte Madera
del Presidio by the creek of the same name, at the head
of along arm of San Francisco Bay, named Richardson’s
Bay. [Figure 1.9] The main town and port of Rancho
Sausalito, where Richardson and his family lived after
¢.1838, was Sausalito, located on the San Francisco Bay at

the southeastern corner of the peninsula. 3

Most of Rancho Sausalito remained largely undeveloped and unsettled under

Richardson’s ownership. The natural grasslands, interspersed by forested and

shrub-covered canyons, provided prime grazing and hunting lands. [Figure 1.10]

Richardson maintained most of the ranch as open cattle range, over which as

many as 2,800 head of cattle roamed, according to an 1847 census. As with many

ranches in this part of California, he probably maintained one or more houses on

the range where his ranch superintendent lived. [Figure 1.11] He also used the land

for harvesting timber and drawing water. Richardson’s main business, however,

was shipping, which he developed in large part out of Sausalito. It was from here

that he also shipped the products of his ranch, including cattle, wood, and water.

Through the 1840s and early 1850s, the landscape of Rancho Sausalito remained

relatively unchanged while just a short distance to the south across the straits of

the Golden Gate, San Francisco was growing into a boom-

town with the Gold Rush of 1849. Richardson retained own-

ership of the vast majority of his ranch, except for several
hundred acres within the village of Sausalito. By the mid-
1850s, however, Richardson had become debt-ridden due to
his own business problems as well as a widespread eco-

nomic crash. Desperate to save the rancho, he signed a deal

in 1855 with Samuel R. Throckmorton, a so-called *49er who

had become successful in San Francisco real estate and other
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business affairs. In return for assuming Richardson’s debts, the
deal called for Throckmorton to take ownership of the rancho
and assume full management of its lands; however, he was also
to return the property to the Richardson family as the debt

was paid off. On February 9, 1856, Richardson transferred the
deed for Rancho Sausalito’s 19,572 acres to Throckmorton. Two
months later, Richardson died, and the deal was apparently

abandoned, leaving Throckmorton as permanent owner of

Rancho Sausalito.*

RANCHE-—CUTITER CALIFORKIA.

Figure 1.11: Engraving of a typical
mid-nineteenth century rancho in THROCKMORTON’S RANCHO SAUSALITO
central California, showing grassland
and forested canyons characteristic of When Samuel Throckmorton acquired Rancho Sausalito in 1856, the entire San
Rancho Sausalito. John Frost, History
of the State of California (Auburn,

New York: Derby & Miller, 1852), 46.

Francisco Bay region was undergoing a boom, affecting adjoining lands on the
once remote Marin Peninsula. By 1862, Marin County, which largely correspond-
ed to the Marin Peninsula, had become the leading dairy-producing county in
California, replacing cattle as the mainstay of the old ranchos.** Marin had also

become a major supplier of timber, with the abundant redwoods used for pilings,
Figure 1.12: Map of Marin Countyin  fiched Jumber, and the other woods used for cordwood and building purposes.
1873 illustrating extent of settlement o
surrounding Rancho Sausalito By the 1850s, however, most of the redwoods had been logged from the vicinity of

(light gray) during Throckmorton Mill Valley, especially in areas that were easily accessible to navigable water.

ownership. Detail, “Map of Marin
County, California” (San Francisco?: . . . o
Compiled by H. Austin, County All of this economic activity led to the growth of a number of communities on the

Surveyor, 1873), California State peninsula close to Rancho Sausalito’s border, most notably Sausalito and San Ra-

Library, Sacramento, annotated by
SUNY ESF.

fael, both on the bay side of the peninsula where there were adequate harbors that

provided navigable connections

with San Francisco. [Figure 1.12]

The first ferry service to Marin be-

gan in 1855, with a route from San

Francisco to Point San Quentin to

I e i o R ey S ]
P J > G\‘E the north of Rancho Sausalito, fol-
ok . North Pacific
o TF o, Coast Railroad Y= lowed by a service from Sausalito
' f@fk‘ e begun in 1868. Soon, rail lines
8 . .
<A “f’ ‘Q' {b were laid out, providing access

to northern California and its ex-

tensive lumber resources. In 1873,

Bolinas Road

Muir Woods

Redwood Creek

Government
Reservation

= o 7/ P“"CT ) Sausalito o

. and Ferry Co. land

/ San Francis/c_o\% .

the North Pacific Coast Railway
was constructed south to Sausalito
along the eastern shore of the pen-
insula. Unlike the bay side, the Pa-

o i B T [
- o - el e -y o . . .
LGt A ‘:P:‘ cific Coast of the Marin Peninsula,
! e, e R with its high cliffs and lack of deep

ports, remained largely undevel-
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Figure 1.13: Map of the northern
part of Samuel Throckmorton’s
Rancho Sausalito, ¢.1883, showing
assumed boundaries of the
twenty-four leased ranches and
the undivided hunting preserve
lands in relationship to current
boundaries of Muir Woods
National Monument. SUNY ESF,
based on USGS Point Bonitas
quadrangle (1993), Tom Harrison,
“Mt Tam Trail Map” (2003), and
“Tamalpais Land and Water
Company Map. No. 3" (1892).

oped and inaccessible, except for Bolinas, a small port community at the head of
the Bolinas Bay. Access to the interior of Marin remained very limited throughout
this period, characterized primarily by trails and primitive wagon roads. In 1870,
the first public road (following today’s Route 1) was built into the interior of the
peninsula to connect Sausalito to Bolinas, passing through Rancho Sausalito south

of Mount Tamalpais and extending up the Pacific Coast.*

Although Samuel Throckmorton initially used all of Rancho Sausalito for his own
farming and hunting uses, by 1859 he had begun to subdivide the land and lease it
out, mostly to Swiss and Portuguese dairy farmers. He did this in part to capitalize
on the increasing demand for milk from the growing San Francisco market, and
to protect the remote parts of the ranch. By 1880, he had subdivided twenty-four
ranches, which generally ranged in size from 500 to 1,500 acres.* [Figure 1.13]
These ranches were in the region later known as West Marin, extending along the
Pacific Coast from Tennessee Valley in the south to near Willow Camp (Stinson

Beach) on the north, and inland east to Throckmorton Ridge.

Throckmorton used the eastern part of Rancho Sausalito, corresponding with the
bayside east of Throckmorton Ridge, as his own ranch land, where he raised cat-
tle, grew hay, and harvested timber. He lived with his family in San Francisco, and
managed Rancho Sausalito through a superintendent, who lived at a house called
“The Homestead,” in an area later known as Homestead Valley south and east of
Redwood Canyon [Figure 1.13]. Throckmorton used a portion of The Homestead

as a retreat during hunting and fishing expeditions in the part of Rancho Sausalito

Existing

% P
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Ocean

S
‘ e ’ SEQUOIA
{:sp / ( \/< %54 \VALLEY
RAVINE ,° \ /
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/// “ EanlkatelPg that he reserved as his own private
N ALPAIS .
B A BAULNES <P 7 EasTREAK | N I hunting preserve. These lands, gener-
N N ,/ i
Ny @o\) e JRICL) Saso ally unsuitable for agriculture, extended
N 7 «® \ PRESIDIO
\\ P e @\““ north and west of The Homestead,
7 2 .
A AN S7 035"6 extending from Redwood Canyon
LAS BAULINES § S . .

north up the higher elevations of Mount

Tamalpais.”” To access these lands,
Throckmorton probably used a trail that
went over the ridge to the south end

My
L = of Redwood Canyon, possibly follow-

ing the later alignment of Muir Woods
Road. Throckmorton apparently cared
a great deal about the ranch and his
hunting lands in particular. According
to an account from the daughter of the
ranch superintendent, Rancho Sausalito
was Samuel Throckmorton’s “...pride

and playground. He was very jealous of
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Figure 1.14: Engraving of Mount
Tamalpais, probably looking
northwest from Richardson’s

Bay, published in San Francisco
Illlustrated Press, vol. 1, no. 4 (April
1873), front page.

it and would allow no trespassers or campers on it and only allow his friends to
picnic there by his own special permit. It was quite a privilege to obtain permission
to spend a day at the ranch..”*® One area he reserved for camping and picnicking
was the forested Cascade Canyon, located at the upper reaches of Mill Valley;
Redwood Canyon was undoubtedly also a favorite area of his for hunting and fish-

ing, and possibly for camping as well.*

In order to protect his ranch lands, Throckmorton erected an extensive system

of boundary fences, which he estimated in 1878 to be thirteen to fifteen miles in
length. Along the public roads, such as the road to San Rafael, Throckmorton also
relied on the fences—some up to eight feet high—to keep out intruders.* These
intruders, according to an 1878
account by Throckmorton,
were day-trippers who arrived
in Sausalito from San Francisco
on a fifteen-cent ferry, mostly
on Sundays. He claimed that his
ranch fences were constantly
being broken down with people
wanting to hunt and have
campfires on his ranchlands. At
the time, Mount Tamalpais was
becoming noted for small game,

and hikers were beginning to

" MOUNT TAMALPATS, discover the mountain’s rug-

ged peaks.*! A hiking club, the
Tamalpais Club, was founded prior to 1880, although they most likely reached the
summit from the north via San Rafael, avoiding trespass across Throckmorton’s
land. * Beyond the small number of hikers and hunters, the natural attributes of
Mount Tamalpais were also becoming better known to the general population in
the years after the Civil War. The mountain was featured prominently in an 1873
article in San Francisco’s lllustrated Press, which included a front-page engraving
of the mountain. [Figure 1.14] The paper noted that Mount Tamalpais “...presents
a solemn and beautiful appearance from this city, with the sun standing among the
shrubbery on his wrinkled sides, and ‘His brow in the cloud and his chin in the
wave, as one of our California poets has ably said in describing the situation of the
mountain.”* Reflecting the limited access to the mountain at the time, the article
mentioned that only “...small parties occasionally visit the mountain during the
summer months,” and that the best point of access was along the northeast side,
from San Rafael. Two years after this article, an 1875 issue of the nationally circu-

lated journal Harper’s Monthly featured Mount Tamalpais in an article entitled
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“Suburbs of San Francisco,” complete with an engraving similar to the one in the

Illustrated Press.**

Samuel Throckmorton’s prohibition against public access to his rancho lands
came to an end in the years following his death in 1883. He left Rancho Sausalito
to his only surviving child, Susanna, who, unable to settle high debts and other
expenses, soon lost the property. The growing public interest in the ranch lands
would begin a new era in the ownership and management of Mount Tamalpais,

including Redwood Canyon.

LANDSCAPE OF REDWOOD CANYON, 1883

Upon Samuel Throckmorton’s death in 1883, Redwood Canyon (then apparently
known as Sequoia Valley or Sequoia Canyon) and surrounding lands that would
later comprise Muir Woods National Monument were part of his unsubdivided
lands on Mount Tamalpais that he used as a hunting preserve. [Drawing 1] Red-
wood Canyon was bordered by Throckmorton’s subdivided ranches, although it is
not known if these were actively farmed or leased at the time. These ranches were
primarily chaparral and open grassland, with deciduous woods along creeks and

on the canyon walls.

Under its ownership by Richardson and later Throckmorton, Redwood Can-

yon remained relatively remote, four miles distant from the Pacific Coast, and
separated from the railroad and main roads to the east by a tall ridge, known as
Throckmorton Ridge. Despite its relative isolation, Redwood Canyon was just a
short distance over the ridge from Throckmorton’s retreat at The Homestead, and
he thus undoubtedly knew the land very well. He would have traveled there along
the trail from The Homestead, most likely following present-day Muir Woods
Road [see Drawing 1].#* At the floor of the canyon, this trail met up with a trail that
paralleled Redwood Creek, then known as Big Lagoon Creek. This trail was an
extension of a ranch road or trail that ran along the creek in Frank Valley, leading
through some of Throckmorton’s leased dairy ranches. This road also provided
access from the Sausalito-Bolinas Road (later Route 1), which had been built in
1870. Within Redwood Canyon, the road through Frank Valley became a trail

that branched at Fern Creek, then known as the East Fork. One trail led up Fern
Canyon toward the East Peak of Mount Tamalpais, the other along the West Fork
(upper Redwood Creek) and its tributary, Bootjack Creek, toward the West Peak.
Along the ridge south of Redwood Canyon, a trail (later known as the Dipsea
Trail) ran west past the Lone Tree to Willow Camp (later Stinson Beach). Some of

these trails may have originated as animal tracks or Miwok paths.
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Unlike most redwood forests on the Marin Peninsula, the one in Redwood Can-
yon was never logged. By the 1870s and 1880s, Throckmorton most likely could
have logged it. Although it would have been difficult, he could have transported
the redwoods down Frank Valley to the Pacific Ocean and on to lumber schoo-
ners up the coast to Bolinas. He certainly would have welcomed such revenue to
address his burdensome mortgage on the ranch. Instead, Throckmorton appar-
ently reserved the canyon for his own private recreational purposes—probably
for hunting, fishing and camping—as part of his private game preserve on Mount
Tamalpais. With an increasing amount of land on the Marin Peninsula cleared,
developed, or fenced for pasture during the late nineteenth century, the forest of
Redwood Canyon would have become a natural refuge for the dwindling popula-
tions of bear and other large game, and the waters of Redwood Creek remained

cool and clear for the native salmon.

Anxious to keep the day-trippers from San Francisco out of Rancho Sausalito,
Samuel Throckmorton apparently met with success in keeping secret the natural
wonders of Redwood Canyon. In its 1875 article on the attractions of the suburbs
of San Francisco, Harper’s Monthly made no mention of the redwood forest,
despite that it featured Mount Tamalpais prominently within the article and
mentioned trees that grew in the area. Instead of the mighty redwood, the article
praised the “orchard oaks” and “blue-gum trees” that grew in area parks and pic-
nic grounds.*® In the two decades following his death in 1883, Throckmorton’s old
game preserve, including Redwood Canyon, would remain in private ownership.
The new landowners, however, would welcome the public’s interest, managing

their new lands for commercial, recreational, and conservation purposes.
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CHAPTER 2
PARK ORIGINS IN REDWOOD CANYON, 1883-1907

fter Samuel Throckmorton’s death in 1883, his lands in Rancho Sausalito
including Redwood Canyon—Ilong oft-limits except for his invited guests
and friends—began to be opened up for development and public use.
In 1889, the ranch was acquired by land developers, who together with other
local residents, business people, and hikers extended roads, a railway, and
trails, into the largely undeveloped lands in the western part of the ranch, which
Throckmorton had leased to dairy farmers and used as his own private hunting
preserve. With such expanding access, Mount Tamalpais was becoming widely
discovered as San Francisco’s own nearby wilderness playground. The western
journal, Overland Monthly, reported in 1904 :

Many longing eyes have read the descriptions of the summer outings of the Sierra
Club in the Yosemite [National Park, 200 miles east of San Francisco]...Still, near
at hand there is a mountain paradise in which nature livers [sic] may revel in a
pleasing variety of scenery that is hard to surpass. Indeed, there are many who
have traveled in the wildest parts of this continent, and who yet loyally claim that
no more romantic, varied beauty may be seen in any trip of a day’s duration than
upon the slopes of Mount Tamalpais.!

At the time this article was published, a movement was underway to make much of
Mount Tamalpais into a public park. Chief among the attractions of the mountain
was the old-growth redwood forest of Redwood Canyon, then also known as Se-
quoia Canyon. Through the turn of the twentieth century, Redwood Canyon was
used as a sportsman’s hunting preserve, but was visited by an increasing number
of hikers and tourists. By the turn of the century, development pressures were
increasing on Mount Tamalpais, leading one of the region’s prominent conserva-
tion advocates—William Kent—to acquire Redwood Canyon in 1905 to safeguard

its redwood forest and oversee its improvement as a park and tourist destination.

OLD RANCHO SAUSALITO AND MILL VALLEY

When Susanna MacClaren Throckmorton inherited Rancho Sausalito upon her
father’s death in 1883, she became the owner of nearly 14,000 acres, stretching
across the Marin Peninsula from the Marin Headlands on the south to the sum-
mit of Mount Tamalpais on the north. The only large tracts that had been sold
off from the original grant of over 19,000 acres were the government reservation
in the Marin Headlands overlooking the Golden Gate, a tract near the village

of Sausalito conveyed to the Saucelito Land and Ferry Company, and strips of

land for rights of way. By the 1880s, Rancho Sausalito remained one of the largest
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undeveloped tracts in close proximity to
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the city of San Francisco. It was, how-
ever, bordered by an increasing amount
of development, including one of the
two main-line railroads to the north, the
North Coast Pacific Railroad, and by the

burgeoning communities of Sausalito,

San Rafael, and numerous other com-
munities that were growing along its

route. [Figure 2.1]

Susanna Throckmorton tried to keep

Rancho Sausalito intact and continued

to operate it for several years as her

Figure 2.1: Detail of an 1884
map of Marin County illustrating
railroads (dark lines), ferry routes
(dashed lines), and communities in
relationship to Rancho Sausalito

and Redwood Canyon. San Rafael
Illlustrated and Described (San
Francisco: W. W. Elliott & Co., 1884),
Marin County Public Library website,
annotated by SUNY ESF.

father had, leasing numerous dairy
ranches. She did, however, allow an increasing number of church and other social
groups to camp on her father’s old hunting preserve, although still by permission
only.? Despite her best efforts, Susanna was unable to retain the rancho due to a
large mortgage left by her father that was held by the San Francisco Savings Union
with the ranch as collateral. In 1887, no longer able to meet mortgage payments,
she met with officials of the bank to determine a settlement and liquidation. The
bank organized a group of prominent real estate and business investors, who had
probably long harbored dreams of development for the property, to tour the ranch
and devise development schemes. Within two years, Susanna had conveyed most
of her Rancho Sausalito property to the bank. On July 17, 1889, the investors filed
incorporation papers as a development entity named the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company of San Francisco, which soon assumed ownership of the property from
the bank.’

DEVELOPMENT OF MILL VALLEY AND EASTERN MARIN

Upon taking title to Rancho Sausalito, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company laid
out plans for subdivision and development. Their initial focus was the develop-
ment of a community in a valley at the head of Richardson’s Bay near the North
Pacific Coast Railroad, northeast of Throckmorton Ridge from Redwood Can-
yon. [Figure 2.2] The site bordered lands of the old Rancho Corte de Madera del
Presidio, near where David Reed had built his sawmill earlier in the century, and
hence the community was named Mill Valley. As one of its first orders of business,
the Tamalpais Land & Water Company laid out the streets and lots, and built a
reservoir and waterlines, drawing from Fern Creek and springs in the watershed
on the south side of Mount Tamalpais above Redwood Canyon. The company also
worked with the North Pacific Coast Railroad to construct a branch line into Mill

Valley, a distance of just under two miles. The main line, which had been built in
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Figure 2.2: Diagram of Rancho
Sausalito showing its relationship
to existing boundaries of Muir
Woods, Mill Valley, rail lines, and
the general division of East and
West Marin by Throckmorton Ridge,
¢.1890. SUNY ESF.

Figure 2.3: The office of the
Tamalpais Land & Water Company,
built in c.1890 in former ranchlands
at site of future downtown

Mill Valley, photographed 1891.
Courtesy Lucretia Little History
Room, Mill Valley Public Library, Mill
Valley, California.

tion off lots in Mill Valley,
operating out of an office in the heart of the development, surrounded at the time
of its construction by rolling grasslands of the old ranch. [Figure 2.3] An editorial

in the Marin Journal appearing in 1890 surmised:

We believe a town will grow there rapidly. No spot so sheltered, so exquisitely
adorned by nature, and so thoroughly inviting can be found anywhere else in the
same distance from the city [San Francisco]. The lovely valley is clothed with hand-
some forest trees, and a charming, never-failing stream of pure, cold water runs

through it...A more inviting place for a cottage retreat would be hard to find.®

Early on, the new town took on the character of a resort, influenced in large part
by the close proximity of the wild lands on Mount Tamalpais. As anticipated by
the Marin Journal, many of the first generation houses were intended for use as
country or seasonal retreats, and a large number of lots (probably those in wood-
ed canyons) were initially not built upon, but rather used as camps. In 1892, two
years after the initial land auction had begun, a survey found 150 individual camps
in Mill Valley used by more than 700 people. The typical camp consisted of one

to several tents used by single families, groups of friends, and social
organizations. Some of these camps persisted for years, but by the
turn of the century, they had typically been replaced by permanent
residences, reflecting the community’s shift toward year-round sub-
urban use. Most of the original lots in Mill Valley had been sold by
the turn of the century, and the development had grown sufficiently
to warrant incorporation as a town, which was chartered in Septem-
ber 1900. During this time, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company
continued to subdivide and develop their property in adjoining areas

such as Homestead Valley where Samuel Throckmorton’s ranch

37



Historic RESOURCE STUDY FOR MUIR W00DS NATIONAL MONUMENT

house had stood. These developed areas were all east of Throckmorton Ridge,

which formed a boundary to the wild lands in West Marin.®

DISPOSITION OF RANCHO SAUSALITO LANDS IN WEST MARIN

Incorporation of the Town of Mill Valley in 1900 relieved the Tamalpais Land &
Water Company from many of its municipal responsibilities such as road main-
tenance, and it instead focused on its profitable water business and disposing of
its land elsewhere on old Rancho Sausalito, particularly in West Marin. It initially
continued to lease property in this region, including Redwood Canyon, as dairy
ranches and hunting lands. Although West Marin had a landscape as picturesque
as Mill Valley, its remoteness from the main transportation corridors along San

Francisco Bay, along with its rougher topography, inhibited development.

On Samuel Throckmorton’s old hunting preserve, corresponding to most of the
land not occupied by dairy ranches or otherwise leased, the Tamalpais Land

& Water Company granted its use to a hunting club known as the Tamalpais
Sportsman’s Association, also known as the Tamalpais Game Club. This private
hunting club had probably been granted shooting and fishing privileges from the
Throckmorton estate (Susanna Throckmorton) in the 1880s, prior to the com-
pany’s purchase of the property.” Little is known about the club, but it was most
likely formed soon after Samuel Throckmorton’s death, perhaps by his friends
and associates who wished to continue the hunting privileges he had granted
them. The Tamalpais Land & Water Company probably considered their hunting
privileges as a temporary or secondary use, instead reserving much of the land
primarily for water supply.® By 1890, the center of the sportsmen’s game preserve

was Redwood Canyon, near where they maintained a clubhouse.’

In the late 1890s, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company began to sell off of its
land in West Marin, except for the parcels higher up on Mount Tamalpais that

it hoped to use for water supply. In 1892, the company had the land surveyed,
identifying thirty-four tracts that were labeled A to Z and numbered 1-8. [Figure
2.4] The survey did not, however, show buildings or land uses, so it is not known
whether all of the subdivisions were actively being leased or farmed. A large

area of land on the upper slopes of Mount Tamalpais, most likely correspond-

ing to Samuel Throckmorton’s private hunting preserve and including Redwood
Canyon, remained unsurveyed, but was identified as “Lot D.” Most if not all of
the subdivided parcels were the same ranches that Throckmorton had leased, and
many were purchased by the farmers who had been renting them. In 1898, the
company filed its survey with the Marin County Recorder, and it was presumably
at this time that it began to sell off the ranches. '° In 1898, for example, the com-
pany sold Ranches P and O south and east of Redwood Canyon to its tenant, John

Dias, who had rented the ranches from Susanna Throckmorton. These sales con-
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Figure 2.4: Survey made in 1892

of the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company's lands in West Marin
illustrating subdivided ranches and
unsurveyed lands that formed the
game preserve of the Tamalpais
Sportsman’s Association. Stippling
within current boundaries of

Muir Woods National Monument
probably indicates redwood forest.
Surveyed by Chas. N. Clapp, 1892,
recorded 1898. Marin County
Recorder’s Office, San Rafael, Map 3,
R. M. book 1, page 104, annotated
by SUNY ESF.
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tinued into the early twentieth century." The company also sold or leased smaller

parcels to well-connected individuals and organizations.

EARLY RECREATION AND CONSERVATION ON MOUNT TAMALPAIS

Even before the Tamalpais Land & Water Company acquired Rancho Sausalito
from Susanna Throckmorton, recreational use of Mount Tamalpais had been
increasing steadily, a trend Samuel Throckmorton had long tried to halt. The es-
tablishment of the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association most likely represented an
effort to continue private recreational use and exclude rising public interest in the
lands. The association was one of a number of exclusive men’s hunting and fishing
clubs organized in the late nineteenth century in Marin. Others included the La-
gunitas Rod and Gun Club, founded in the late 1890s on 12,000 acres on the north
side of Mount Tamalpais, and the Country Club in Bear Valley, founded in 1890
and located on an extensive tract northwest of Mount Tamalpais on Point Reyes.
Like the Tamalpais sportsmen, these clubs featured a central lodge or clubhouse,
which served as the social heart of the organization."? They did allow some access

to their lands to people outside of the clubs, but it was generally by invitation only.
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The public often trespassed, however, since the large extent of the clubs’ lands

made it difficult to secure borders.

Other private landowners on Mount Tamalpais had a more lenient record of al-
lowing public access. One was the Marin County Water Company, which owned
a large tract on the north side of Mount Tamalpais as a watershed for its reservoir
at Lagunitas Lake, created in 1873. The reservoir was featured prominently in the
article about tourist attractions in the San Francisco area published by Harper’s
Monthly in 1875.1° The water company increased its holdings on the north side

of the mountain through the turn of the century to supply water to the growing
communities in eastern Marin. In 1884, private landowners on the northeastern
side of the mountain, probably including the water company as well as Susanna
Throckmorton, granted a public right-of-way for the construction of the first road
to the summit of Mount Tamalpais. Called the Eldridge Grade, the road wound up
the mountain from the San Rafael area, then the largest community in the vicinity
[see Figure 2.2]. Completion of this road began a period of increased visitation to
the East and West Peaks.'*

Although Susanna Throckmorton, and later the Tamalpais Land & Water Com-
pany, may have been more lenient about public access to Rancho Sausalito than
Samuel Throckmorton had been, it would be a while before their prime recre-
ational lands on the southwest side of Mount Tamalpais used by the Tamalpais
Sportsman’s Association and others would be widely open for public use. An indi-
cation of the continuing effort to restrict public access was evident in a resolution
passed by the Tamalpais Land & Water Company around the turn of the century
calling for property owners in the region to maintain “...the privacy of these lands,
and preventing their use for picnic or excursion parties or other objectionable

purposes.”'s

HIKERS & TOURISTS

Despite their best efforts, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company and new prop-
erty owners in Mill Valley could not slow the public’s growing interest in Mount
Tamalpais. New residents of Mill Valley, particularly those who set up camps on
their property, often ventured into the wild lands and ranches, accompanied by

a continued flow of day-trippers from San Francisco who arrived in increasing
numbers following the construction of the Mill Valley Branch of the North Pacific
Coast Railroad in 1889. By the turn of the century, the public was being beckoned
to the wonders of Mount Tamalpais, as the Overland Monthly reported in 1904:

Hither the wood-sick ones may journey to the countless gardenspots which are
the pleasure-Meccas of Marin County. Mill Valley, Larkspur, Ross Valley and

Fairfax [communities in eastern Marin] have their mingled charms of semi-
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civilized forest, and in these places thousands of holiday pleasure-seekers are
content to linger. But these are only the jumping-off places from which the hardier
ones hit the trails that lead to the remote canyons and forests of the mountain.
With staff, haversack, and hob-nailed shoes the disciples of John Muir and
Thoreau soon leave ‘the madding [sic] crowd’ far behind on the dusty roads, for
beyond the western spurs of the mountain lie these secluded canyons of the wild-

est beauty.'s

Several companies, first established in the 1890s, profited from the growing inter-
est in Mount Tamalpais, offering excursion rides from Mill Valley on carriages,
burros, horses, and wagons. The most popular means of access, however, was by
foot. Sought-after destinations on Mount Tamalpais included the summits, the
beach at Big Lagoon (Muir Beach), and Redwood Canyon.'” Trails to these desti-
nations wound across dairy ranches and through open grassland, chaparral, and
forested canyons, all of which was privately owned at the time, mostly by dairy

farmers and the Tamalpais Land & Water Company.

An indication of the growing popularity of hiking on Mount Tamalpais in the
1880s and 1890s was the founding of outdoor clubs. Many of these were organized
by Austrian and German residents who sought to continue a favorite pastime

from their native countries, and who likened the scenery of Mount Tamalpais to
the Alps. The oldest of the clubs, the Tamalpais Club, had been founded prior to
1880. It was followed by a number of clubs that included hiking Mount Tamalpais
among their main activities, including the Sightseers Club, founded in 1887; the
Cross-Country Club, founded in 1890; the California Camera Club, founded in
1890; and the Columbia Park Boys’ Club, founded in 1894. Members of the San
Francisco-based Sierra Club, founded by John Muir in 1892, were undoubtedly
also frequent hikers of Mount Tamalpais at this time. By the late 1890s, the renown
of hiking on Mount Tamalpais and the surrounding region had been sufficiently
established to warrant the publication of a hiking map in 1898, entitled “Tour-

ists’ Map of Mt. Tamalpais and Vicinity, Showing Railways, Wagon-Roads, Trails,
Elevations &c.” [Figure 2.5] This map showed a network of trails, many probably
dating back to the earliest years of Rancho Sausalito, leading through and near
Redwood Canyon and connecting to Mill Valley, the coast, and the summit of

Mount Tamalpais.

THE MOUNTAIN RAILWAY

In addition to trails, the 1898 Tourists’ Map showed the route of a railroad that
twisted its way up Mount Tamalpais from Mill Valley (Eastland) : The Mill Valley
and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway. Completed in 1896, the railway, commonly
known as the mountain railway, was a major force in expanding the tourist trade

and recreational use of Mount Tamalpais, and quickly became the most popular
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Figure 2.5: Detail, A. H. Sanborn,
Tourists’ Map of Mt. Tamalpais

and Vicinity, Showing Railways,
Wagon-Roads, Trails, Elevations &c.
(San Francisco: Edward Denny &
Company, 1902, originally published
1898), annotated by SUNY ESF. Mill
Valley is labeled as Eastland, and
the current limits of Muir Woods are
shaded in gray.

Figure 2.6: The mountain railway at
the Double Bownot above Redwood
Canyon, looking east toward San
Francisco Bay, from a Northwest
Pacific Railroad brochure, ¢.1900.
Courtesy Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives,
GOGA 32470 B24, Muir Woods
Collection.

way to reach the summit. A railway across
the mountain had initially been proposed

as part of the North Pacific Railway Branch
line to Mill Valley constructed in 1889.
Unlike the branch line, the Mill Valley and
Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway, as its name
implies, was not conceived as a commuter

or freight line, but strictly for recreational
purposes. While supposedly envisioned by
the secretary of the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company, the company did not develop the
mountain railway, although it did provide
some financial backing. The main backer was
Sidney Cushing, owner of the Blithedale Ho-
tel and lands in Blithedale Canyon along the
proposed lower end of the route in Mill Val-
ley; and by Albert Kent, a businessman from
Chicago who had established a country place
between San Rafael and Mill Valley and who
also owned land along the proposed route.
The railway was incorporated on January 15,
1896, and it was completed by August 27 of

the same year. '

The mountain railway quickly became one of the most famous attractions on
Mount Tamalpais, popularly dubbed “The Crookedest Railroad in the World”
for its more than two hundred curves necessary to ascend the 2,200-foot climb
on a maximum seven-percent grade. [Figures 2.6, 2.7] The railway was a single

track, extending for 8.25 miles from downtown Mill Valley to its terminus just

below East Peak,
requiring a ride
of ninety minutes
uphill. In order to
boost its busi-
ness and provide
visitor ameni-
ties, the railroad
constructed an
inn and restaurant
at the terminus,
called the Tavern

of Tamalpais. Built
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1900, the long, Shingle-
style building featured a
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Eldry, &
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Tavern of Tamalpais

WEST PEAK & g Imiil Valley and
Reilway (1896) ¢ long porch facing south,

overlooking Redwood
Canyon and the Pacific
Coast, with San Francisco
in the distance." [Figure
2.8] In 1904, the railway
built a second, smaller inn
at West Point, the west-
ernmost extent of the line
and point of departure to
Stinson Beach via stage
coach. Although many
riders on the railroad
simply came up to view
the panorama, stay at the
inn, or dine at the restau-
rant, many others chose
to use it as a starting point
for hikes on the mountain,
with several trails leading
down into Redwood Can-

yon from the terminus.

Figure 2.7: Map of West Marin

in vicinity of Redwood Canyon
showing major subdivisions,
roads, and railroads extant by
¢.1907. SUNY ESF, based on USGS
Point Bonitas quadrangle (1993),
Tom Harrison, “Mt Tam Trail Map”
(2003), and “Tamalpais Land and
Water Company Map. No. 3"
(1892).

Figure 2.8: Tavern of Tamalpais, view
north of original building with East
Peak in background, ¢.1896. Courtesy
Al Graves Collection, published in Ted
Wurm, The Crookedest Railroad in the
World (Interurban Press, 1983).

The railway’s construction of West Point Inn was only one of its efforts to expand
tourist attractions on Mount Tamalpais, and thus boost its business. In order to
capitalize on the interest in visiting Redwood Canyon, the railway began planning
for a branch line there around the same time it built the West Point Inn in 1904.
This branch was publicly proposed in 1905 by Sidney Cushing, the president of the
mountain railway, and was backed by William Kent, the son of Albert Kent who
had been a backer
of the original
line.? Built in 1906-
1907 but not fully
operational until
1908, this two and
one-half mile line
was planned for use
by open-air gravity
cars, descending
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from the “Double Bowknot” in the main line, approximately at its half-way point
between Mill Valley and the East Peak [see Figure 2.7]. From this juncture at an el-
evation of 1,120 feet, known as “Mesa Station,” the branch line descended west to
Throckmorton Ridge, and then into the upper reaches of Redwood Canyon along

the west side of Fern Canyon, terminating at an elevation of 490 feet.

KENT LANDS AND BEGINNINGS OF THE TAMALPAIS PARK MOVEMENT

Albert and William Kent’s backing of the mountain railway was only one part of
their extensive involvement in the Mount Tamalpais region during the late nine-
teenth and early twentieth centuries, during which time they became the largest
landowners on the mountain. They also became some of the foremost leaders

in advocating for the conservation of natural resources and developing them

for public benefit. Although the Kents were strong supporters of preserving the
mountain’s scenic beauty, they also believed that these resources had to be made
accessible to the public through compatible development that would ensure ad-
equate transportation and visitor amenities. Among most conservation circles of
the day, such aims were not seen as contradictory, except to the few who followed

a strict preservation approach.

Albert Kent, the wealthy owner of a meatpacking business in Chicago, traveled to
the West following the Civil War. In 1871, he purchased 850 acres in Ross Val-

ley, located on the northeast side of Mount Tamalpais in eastern Marin roughly
between Mill Valley and San Rafael. Here, the family established their country
place and farm, “Kentfield,” while maintaining a permanent residence in Chicago.
A short distance uphill from Kentfield was the Eldridge Grade, leading to the
summit of Mount Tamalpais. By the 1890s, Albert Kent had purchased tracts of
land on Mount Tamalpais, and his son was being approached to purchase more. In
1901, Albert died, and he left Kentfield and all of his property on Mount Tamalpais
to William Kent, who continued to acquire land and make plans for their devel-
opment and public access. In 1902, for example, the younger Kent conceived a
major plan with Sidney Cushing, the president of the mountain railway, to extend
the railway from West Point down Steep Ravine to Willow Camp (later known as
Stinson Beach), then west and north through Bolinas. Instead of the rail line, how-
ever, only a stage road was built. Still anticipating increased tourism with the new
road, Kent purchased tracts of land in Steep Ravine and at Willow Camp for both
development and conservation, including Ranches 1, 2, 4, and 8 [see Figure 2.7].
In 1905, he purchased another large tract that included Redwood Canyon, and
within three years, he had purchased neighboring Ranches W, X, and Y.?' By 1907,
William Kent had become one of the largest landowners on Mount Tamalpais,
and his financial and personal interests had shifted sufficiently west that he moved

from Chicago and made Kentfield his family’s permanent home.*
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During the years that the Kents were active in acquiring and developing land on
Mount Tamalpais, outdoor clubs and a number of other environmental organiza-
tions, including John Muir’s Sierra Club, began to take an active role in promot-
ing conservation of Mount Tamalpais. Hiking groups established guidelines for
appropriate conduct, which included prohibition of hunting, fishing, and littering,
and for care of trails and prevention of fires.” Beginning in the 1890s, with devel-
opment increasing in eastern Marin in communities such as Mill Valley, several
large landowners, foremost being the Tamalpais Land & Water Company, began to
progress plans for developing their lands for water supply, timber supply, housing,
and roads, in ways that were contradictory to the conservationists’ recreational
and aesthetic goals. Such development proposals gave the park movement mo-

mentum.

Editorials began to appear in the 1890s calling for the preservation of the wild
lands on Mount Tamalpais and establishment of public parklands, and by the turn
of the century, concrete plans were being presented.* The general argument for
the park was evident in a letter written in 1902 by Morrison Pixley, a local resident
and friend of William Kent: “There is in Marin County, an opportunity for San
Francisco to obtain a seaside park with giant redwoods and Mount Tamalpais in
one enclosure and within an hour’s travel time from the foot of Market St...[in San
Francisco]”® One of the first organizations created to advance the park idea was
the Tamalpais Forestry Association, which William Kent helped organize in 1901
for the purpose of protecting the scenic beauty of the semi-arid region, especially
from fire. As Kent later remembered, he was, at this time, “...greatly interested in
the general conservation of Tamalpais and its dedication as a public park.”* Kent
served as president of the Association in 1903 and 1904, and helped to launch an
effective fire-fighting campaign. He also presided over an association meeting on
September 12,1903, attended by Gifford Pinchot, in which a formal proposal for
a12,000-acre public park on Mount Tamalpais was issued. From this meeting,

the Tamalpais National Park Association was formed. Although the association
counted several influential citizens among its members, the park movement failed
to gain sufficient momentum during this time.?” Gathering threats to key parcels
on Mount Tamalpais, including Redwood Canyon, would instead be addressed

individually through the efforts of private citizens such as William Kent.

TRANSITION OF REDWOOD CANYON TO PARK USE, 1883-1907

For over three decades following Samuel Throckmorton’s death in 1883, the heart
of Redwood Canyon remained under private ownership, with three different
owners between 1883 and 1905 : Susanna Throckmorton, who inherited it from

her father in 1883 as part of Rancho Sausalito; the Tamalpais Land & Water Com-

45



Historic RESOURCE STUDY FOR MUIR W00DS NATIONAL MONUMENT

pany, which acquired it as part of Throckmorton estate/Rancho Sausalito in 1889;

and William Kent, who purchased it as part of a 612-acre subdivision in 1905.

Under Susanna Throckmorton’s brief ownership between 1883 and 1889, the
Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association probably had the right of use to Redwood
Canyon. In its earliest years, the association may have used Bootjack Camp,
located on a tributary of Redwood Creek, as a hunting camp. Redwood Canyon
may have also served as a campsite, and certainly also as one of the club’s main
hunting and fishing grounds—the purported last black bear on Mount Tamalpais
was trapped in Redwood Canyon during the 1880s, most likely by the sportsmen.
2 Redwood Canyon was accessible by a number of paths as well as a minor ranch
road that paralleled Big Lagoon Creek (Frank Valley Road), but was otherwise
little developed.” It was not until after purchase by the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company in 1889 that more substantial development and recreational use began

to occur in and around Redwood Canyon.

TAMALPAIS LAND & WATER COMPANY OWNERSHIP, 1889-1905

With its acquisition of Rancho Sausalito in 1889 and subsequent granting of hunt-
ing and fishing privileges to the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association, the Tamalpais
Land & Water Company made few changes to the boundaries or use of Redwood
Canyon. With its lettering and numbering of the subdivided ranches in c.1892,
Redwood Canyon fell within the southern end of the unsurveyed lands which
were identified as Lot D, bounded by Ranches P, X, Y, 8 and 5 [see Figure 2.7].
During this time, however, the company began using the unsubdivided hunting
preserve lands for water supply for Mill Valley and other areas of eastern Marin.
The company initially tapped surface waters, piping from upper Fern Creek in a
system completed in October 1890. This soon proved inadequate, and the com-
pany began looking for new water sources. One source it considered was Red-
wood Creek (the largest creek on the south side of Mount Tamalpais), which it
planned to dam for water supply and electrical generation. Such a dam would have
required the logging of a substantial part of the redwood forest. By the summer

of 1892, however, the company had given up on these plans, apparently because

it would have been difficult or costly to pump the water to Mill Valley over
Throckmorton Ridge. The company instead built Cascade Dam on Old Mill Creek
above Mill Valley and east of Throckmorton Ridge, a project that was finished in
1893.%

Aside from the problems with pumping over Throckmorton Ridge, another
reason that the Tamalpais Land & Water Company abandoned its reservoir plans
may have had to do with the influence of the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association,
and in particular to one of its influential, conservation-minded members, William

Kent.*' An avid hunter, Kent’s involvement in the club reflected not only his rec-
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reational interests, but most likely also an interest in safeguarding the redwoods.*
Years later, Kent remembered that “in about 1890,” his friend Morrison F. Pixley,
made him aware of the big trees and the need to safeguard them, apparently in
light of Tamalpais Land & Water Company’s plans to dam Redwood Creek.*
Probably recognizing the sportsman’s association as a lobby for conservation,
Kent helped to solidify its presence at Redwood Canyon. In ¢.1890, he erected a
clubhouse for the association there, and agreed to pay the salary of a gamekeeper
and warden. The clubhouse, called “The Alders,” was built at the south end of
Redwood Canyon along Frank Valley Road [see Figure 2.7]. Ben Johnson served
as the association’s gamekeeper and warden, transferring from a job as rent collec-
tor for the Throckmorton ranches. Kent provided him living quarters in a building

later known as the “Keepers House,” which may have been the same building as
The Alders.*

Beginning about 1890, William Kent allowed a church group the use of a building
along Redwood Creek—most probably The Alders—for its summer camp (its use
was probably during the off-season for the hunters). This church group was the
Sunday School Athletic League of Marin County, affiliated with the Presbyterian
Church. Its main camping area, where it held picnics, built campfires, and pitched
tents, was in the side canyon to the southeast of the Keeper’s House, within Ranch
P [see Figure 2.7]. At the time, this ranch was leased from the Tamalpais Land

& Water Company by John Dias, who operated a dairy farm known as Hillside
Ranch extending onto Ranch O. It was probably through the influence of William
Kent that Dias and the company allowed the church use of the side canyon. Grate-
ful for Kent’s assistance, the church named their camp “Camp Kent.”*> When John
Dias purchased his land from the Tamalpais Land & Water Company in 1898, he
continued to allow the church use of the side canyon as its campgrounds. Above
the campgrounds on the upper part of the side-canyon, Dias sold a plot in ¢.1898

to Judge Conlon of San Francisco, who built a cottage on the property.*

The sportsmen, Judge Conlon, and the Sunday School were not the only ones to
use the lands in and around Redwood Canyon for recreational purposes during
the 1890s. One of the most colorful of the decade was the San Francisco Bohemi-
an Club, which selected Redwood Canyon, or what they then called Sequoia Can-
yon, as the location of their “Annual Encampment” for the summer of 1892. The
Bohemian Club had been organized in 1872 as a city social club instituted, accord-
ing to its 1887 bylaws “...for the association of gentlemen connected profession-
ally with literature, art, music, the drama, and also those who, by reason of their
love or appreciation of these objects, may be deemed eligible”*” Within a decade,
the club had been transformed into one of the most prominent social organiza-
tions for wealthy businessmen in San Francisco. A highlight of the club calendar

was the annual summer encampment, begun in the late 1870s and held at various
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rural locations, usually in redwood forests. One of their first was held in 1878 in a
redwood grove along Papermill Creek on the north slopes of Mount Tamalpais,
but that grove was logged soon after their encampment and the club relocated

to Sonoma County, the coastal county north of Marin, to a place approximately
seventy miles north of San Francisco. In 1890, the summer encampment became
a one-week event. Members stayed in tents, and regular entertainment involved
games and theatrical events, often in an atmosphere of mystery and intrigue. The

main play became known as the “High Jinks,” after a Scottish drinking game.*

In 1892, after a decade of camping in Sonoma County, some club members urged
areturn to near-by Marin County, arguing, “...in verdurous Mill Valley at the foot
of Tamalpais lay an ancient wooded tract of a truly rural character which would
serve for the occasion”** When the club initially began its summer encampments
in the late 1870s, Redwood Canyon had been off limits under Throckmorton
ownership, but by 1892, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company was beginning to
open up these lands, and had abandoned plans for damming Redwood Creek. At
the time, the Mill Valley area was also becoming well known as a prime camping
spot, and so Redwood Canyon with its majestic redwood forest became an obvi-
ous location for the Bohemians. Bohemian Club leaders were initially so pleased
with Redwood Canyon that they made plans to acquire an eighty-acre tract within
the heart of the redwood forest, centered along a minor side canyon extending
from Redwood Creek up the southwest side of the canyon wall [see Figures 2.4,
2.7]. For 815,000, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company sold the parcel to club
member Harry Gillig, who intended to gift the property to the club.

The Redwood Canyon encampment site was only a few miles from the train
station in the new town of Mill Valley, where most of the Bohemians would be
arriving. To get to Redwood Canyon from Mill Valley, however, there was no
road, only a rough trail over Throckmorton Ridge—the same trail that Samuel
Throckmorton probably used from The Homestead. The only vehicular access to
Redwood Canyon was the minor ranch road through Frank Valley (Frank Valley
Road), which involved a circuitous route from Mill Valley along the Sausalito-
Bolinas Road (Route 1). To remedy this situation, the Jinks Committee of the
Bohemian Club built a road from Mill Valley, probably following the alignment of
the earlier trail.** This road, known as Sequoia Valley Road (present Muir Woods
Road/Sequoia Valley Drive), was built to the Bohemian Club encampment site

in 1892, and was recorded on the first U.S. Geologic Survey of the area made in
1897.4! [Figure 2.9] Although it was a narrow, earthen road with numerous sharp
turns and drop-offs, it greatly facilitated access to the area and from growing Mill

Valley in particular.

48



LanDp-Ust HisTory, 1883-1907

Figure 2.9: Topographic survey

made in 1897 illustrating Sequoia
Valley Road and its connection

to Mill Valley in relationship

to existing boundaries of Muir
Woods. Detail, United States
Geologic Survey, Tamalpais Sheet,
1897, annotated by SUNY ESF.

With Sequoia Valley Road
complete, the Bohemians
celebrated their two-week
long High Jinks at Redwood
Canyon in early September
1892. Given their limited
time in the canyon, the club
probably did not see any
potential conflict with the
hunters who continued to
have rights to the surround-
ing areas. Despite the initial
pleasure with Redwood
Canyon, legend says that
the club members com-
plained of the cold from the
prevalent fogs, but other
reasons probably included
insufficient level land along
the canyon floor for pitch-
ing tents, increasing tourist traffic to Redwood Canyon, and the growing nearby
development in Mill Valley. These factors led the Bohemians to decide not to
return to Redwood Canyon for the next year’s encampment.** On October 1, 1892,
the club voted to refuse Harry Gillig’s gift of the property. Gillig was thanked for
his offer, and he sold the property back to the Tamalpais Land & Water Company.
For its next encampment in 1893, the club returned to Sonoma County to a red-
wood grove along the Russian River, a tract it purchased in 1901 as its permanent

encampment site.*?

Through the 1890s, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company allowed tourists to
freely visit Redwood Canyon in a measure of apparent public good will, but prob-
ably at the dismay of many in the sportsman’s association.* While the canyon had
probably long been a popular destination among a relatively few number of avid
hikers on Mount Tamalpais (either as legal visitors or trespassers), the construc-
tion of Sequoia Valley Road in 1892 swelled visitation and introduced a new type
of tourist who arrived in horse-drawn vehicles. The twisting, narrow road was
widely criticized as being dangerous, but it immediately became popular with
tourists arriving by train in Mill Valley, many of whom continued on to the woods

using tourist liveries.*

An indication of the popularity of Redwood Canyon among tourists following the

construction of Sequoia Valley Road was evident on the first hiking trail map for
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Figure 2.10: Photograph of early
“pleasure-seekers” to Redwood
Canyon, ¢.1904. Harold French, “A
Vacation on the Installment Plan:
Wild Places on Mount Tamalpais”
(Overland Monthly, October 1904),
456.

Mount Tamalpais published in 1898. The map clearly identified “Sequoia Canyon”
and its “Redwood Forest,” along with Sequoia Valley Road leading down from
Mill Valley [see Figure 2.5]. By the turn of the century, Redwood Canyon’s place as
a prime tourist destination and a quasi-public park had become well established.
Most came to see the redwood forest, picnic, or even camp overnight, and on at
least one occasion, a group came to celebrate the transcendental quality of the
ancient trees. Perhaps following the precedent of the arts-oriented Bohemian
Club, in 1903 a group of prominent writers from San Francisco, including the nov-

elist Jack London and along with William Kent’s friend Morrison F. Pixley, chose

In Redwc_ndd Canyon.

Redwood Canyon as the spot to dedicate a memorial of
the one-hundredth anniversary of Ralph Waldo Emerson’s
birth. During the memorial ceremony, the group read a mes-

sage received from John Muir.*

The next year, the beauty and recreational use of the forest
were prominently featured in the western journal, Overland
Monthly, as part of an article on places to visit on Mount
Tamalpais. [Figure 2.10] Of all the “secluded canyons of the
wildest beauty” on Tamalpais, the journal reported, “...the
most accessible and popular is Sequoia Canyon, which lies
four miles to the west of Mill Valley, by a winding wagon-
road..” In an apparent contrast with Redwood Canyon, the
article found Steep Ravine (a canyon to the northwest of
Redwood Canyon with a smaller forest of old-growth red-
wood and no road access) to be “...by far the most wild and
least explored of all the many canyons of Tamalpais...While
other routes [i.e., Redwood Canyon] ring with shouts and
laughter of parties of pleasure-seekers, here is a place where

one may spend a holiday in perfect solitude*’

KENT-RAILWAY ACQUISITION OF REDWOOD CANYON, 1905-1907

Increasing tourism and other changes in land-use and ownership at the turn of the
twentieth century were affecting the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association and its
traditional use and stewardship of its game preserve, including Redwood Canyon.
The Tamalpais Land & Water Company’s leasing of dairy ranches, and their sale
after 1898, led to increased fencing of the rangeland, restricting the movement of
wild game. Other subdivisions and uses, such as Camp Kent and Judge Conlon’s
Cottage on Ranch P, further changed the dynamics of land use in the region. Such
factors apparently led the sportsmen to consider a motion to disband in 1898,

but they did not approve it.*® In the years after this motion, tourism continued to
increase in Redwood Canyon, with parties of pleasure-seekers arriving in vehicles,

as evidenced by the Overland Monthly article. Tourism not only affected wildlife

50



LanDp-Ust HisTory, 1883-1907

and conflicted with hunting, but also impacted the pristine natural character of
the redwood forest. Despite its increasing renown and popularity with tourists,
Redwood Canyon had few visitor amenities and was difficult to reach. These con-
ditions concerned William Kent, but without ownership of the land, he apparently

was unable to take corrective measures.

With the seemingly imminent demise of the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association in
the years after 1898, the future care and use of the land became a pressing issue. At
the same time, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company was undertaking its general
divestment of its Rancho Sausalito lands, and was also reorganizing its operations.
In June 1903, the company announced the formation of a new company to take
care of the water business : the North Coast Water Company, apparently first
named the Mill Valley Water Company. On January 7, 1904, the water interests
were transferred to the new company, which was owned by James Newlands and
William Magee (Magee was one of the original officers of the Tamalpais Land &
Water Company).* The new company was created to provide water to Mill Valley
and other adjoining communities, build pipelines and reservoirs, and acquire
watershed lands. One of the parcels that North Coast planned on acquiring was

a large tract that included Redwood Canyon, where they revived earlier plans

to build a reservoir. Lovell White, the president of the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company, apparently foresaw the fate of Redwood Canyon should Newlands and
Magee acquire the property. He urged William Kent, probably at the time North
Coast Water Company was being established in 1903, to buy the property before
they did. White told Kent that if he did not buy the redwood forest, the trees
would probably be cut down.*® White was certainly sensitive to the preservation
cause. His wife, Laura White, had been a leader in the fight to save two groves

of giant sequoias in the Sierras that were proposed for logging in 1900; and in
January 1903, she had been elected president of the Sempervirens Club, which
had been instrumental in preserving the coast redwoods south of San Francisco
through the establishment of Big Basin Redwood State Park in 1901-1902.%'

For several years, William Kent had been hoping that Redwood Canyon would be
acquired as part of a public park on Mount Tamalpais through the efforts of the
Tamalpais National Park Association, founded in September 1903. The Forestry
Section of the California Club in San Francisco was also working to preserve
Redwood Canyon. It sought to individually designate it a national park, and began
a campaign in 1904 to raise $80,000 for acquisition of the property.* Probably as
part of these two efforts, Lovell White hosted three prominent conservationists on
a tour of Redwood Canyon in ¢.1904 to advance the plan for acquiring Redwood
Canyon by subscription as a public park. These three conservationists included
John Muir, the noted naturalist and founder of the Sierra Club; Charles S. Sargent,
first director of the Arnold Arboretum in Boston; and Gifford Pinchot, one of the
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first professional American foresters and then the chief of the federal Division of

Forestry.>

The plan to acquire Redwood Canyon by public subscription met with little suc-
cess due to the high price for the property being asked by the Tamalpais Land &
Water Company, and probably also due to the amount of time needed to raise the
money relative to pending threat of acquisition and development by the North
Coast Water Company. Lovell White instead sought out William Kent to privately
take up the cause. Kent’s record of conservation on Mount Tamalpais, in addi-
tion to his personal connections, certainly led White to recruit him. Kent had not
only become a central figure in the Tamalpais park movement, but had also been
involved in the stewardship of Redwood Canyon through the Tamalpais Sports-
man’s Association for more than a decade. Kent was a major landholder on Mount
Tamalpais, and had previously backed tourism-related development projects. Kent
was also a stockholder in the Mill Valley and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway, which
by this time most likely had a vision if not working plans to extend a branch line

into Redwood Canyon.

In late 1904 or early 1905, following Lovell White’s suggestion, Kent toured
Redwood Canyon with S. B. Cushing, the President of the Mill Valley and Mt.
Tamalpais Scenic Railway.’* The two probably discussed plans for the branch rail-
way and other projects in the forest to improve public access and visitor amenities.
Keen on the prospect of ensuring the preservation of the redwoods and making
the canyon more accessible to the public, Kent agreed to purchase the redwood
forest and worked out a plan to allow the railway to lease the entire tract for a pe-
riod of five years, developing it into a park complete with rail access.® As a related
deal with the Tamalpais Land & Water Company, Kent also proposed purchasing
Sequoia Valley Road and Frank Valley Road. With the assistance of the mountain
railway, he proposed rebuilding the entire route (today’s Muir Woods-Frank Val-
ley Road) from the Sausalito-Bolinas county road (Route 1) to the Mill Valley city

limits to improve vehicular access to Redwood Canyon.*

Kent asked Cushing to secure the lowest possible price for Redwood Canyon,
recalling later that it was “...understood that the purchase was for preservation,
and not for exploitation.””” At the time, Kent was having financial trouble in the
midst of a widespread economic downturn. His wife Elizabeth was troubled by
the prospect of taking on additional debt necessary to buy Redwood Canyon, but
Kent countered, “If we lost all the money we have and saved those trees it would
be worth while, wouldn’t it?”*® By the summer of 1905, the Kents had agreed to the
purchase of a 612-acre tract for a price of $45,000. Probably due to the influence
of Lovell White, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company turned down a much
more profitable offer of $100,000, probably made by the North Coast Water
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Company for a larger tract. On August 31, 1905, the Kents’ deed for the property
was filed with the Marin County Recorder.” The property encompassed the south
end of the Tamalpais Land & Water Company’s unsurveyed land designated as
Lot D, encompassing most of the redwood forest. On the west, south, and east, the
boundaries followed existing ranch lines; on the north, a new subdivision line was
created that roughly corresponded with the northern limits of the redwood forest,
with Edgewood Avenue forming the northeastern corner [see Figure 2.7]. The
tract encompassed most of the land that would have become part of a reservoir.
As part of the deed to Redwood Canyon, the Tamalpais Land & Water Company
also conveyed to Kent ownership of Sequoia Valley Road and Frank Valley Road.
Kent’s acquisition of the road was approved prior to his purchase of the property

through a resolution by the county Board of Directors.®

The Kents’ deed for Redwood Canyon contained restrictions relating to water
rights, which was not surprising given the Tamalpais Land & Water Company’s
close relationship with its spin-off, the North Coast Water Company. The deed
specified : “...This conveyance is made subject always to such water rights and
rights in and to the water of streams flowing through the land hereby conveyed

as may now be vested in the North Coast Water Company (a corporation).” ¢' Al-
though Kent probably realized the potential harm that this restriction could do to
the redwoods, he probably considered that a battle he could take on at a late date.
For the time, Kent had succeeded in keeping the redwood forest out of the hands
of the North Coast Water Company (he later remembered that Newlands and Ma-
gee were “greatly piqued” at him for getting ahead of them) and the possibility of
the forest being destroyed to build a water reservoir in the canyon.* The adjoining
land to the north, upstream from the redwood forest and amounting to just over
six hundred acres, was purchased by the North Coast Water Company on Decem-

ber 7, 1906, just over two months after Kent’s purchase.®

William Kent, together with the Mill Valley and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway,
planned to open Redwood Canyon as a public park, free of charge, and imple-
ment a program of improvements to enhance visitor amenities and facilitate
access. The emphasis of Kent’s management, however, was on the protection of
the old-growth redwoods and the scenic character of the canyon. In its July 1907
article on the new park published after the improvements were complete, the
San Francisco Sunday Call detailed Kent’s public-spirited conservation ethic for

Redwood Canyon:

Not for himself alone does he care for this valuable possession. To the public, he
says, you are welcome to all the pleasure and comfort and inspiration of the woods.
Come into them by the outside lands or by the railway—any way you like, he says,

“only keep the law of the beautiful jungle.” The spirit in which the forest, with its
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Figure 2.11: Redwood Creek in

an undetermined location in
Redwood Canyon illustrating
natural gravel streambed

and shrubby character of the
adjoining open floodplain, c.1905.
Note small pool in the creek

that may have been one built

by the Tamalpais Sportsman’s
Association. Courtesy Geo-Images
Project, Department of Geography,

University of California, Berkeley,
Magic Lantern slide NC-H-57,
http://Geolmages.Berkeley.edu.

morethan 80 acres [sic] of big trees, is opened to the public is expressed in the notices
that are tacked to the trees as carefully as were those love messages in the forest of
Arden... “The public is welcome to visit Redwood canyon and Sequoia grove, but
on the sole condition that they do not build fires, break trees or litter the grounds

with paper.”

With Kent’s purchase of Redwood Canyon, the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Associa-
tion apparently disbanded. The emphasis on tourism proposed by Kent and the
mountain railway would have made Redwood Canyon incompatible with hunting.
In September 1904, just prior to Kent’s purchase of the property, the sportsmen’s
longtime game warden and keeper of the property, Ben Johnson, died. In his
place, Kent hired Andrew Lind as keeper, and as with Johnson, provided him

with living quarters at the Keeper’s House located at the south end of Kent’s new
property on Frank Valley Road. Lind was responsible for overseeing the care of
the entire Redwood Canyon tract, but the Mill Valley and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic
Railway took care of operations, construction projects, and employment of tour

guides. ®

LANDSCAPE OF REDWOOD CANYON, 1883-1907

While under the brief ownership of Samuel Throckmorton’s estate (Susanna
Throckmorton) in the years between 1883 and 1889, there is little evidence that
any changes were made to Redwood Canyon. The only known cultural features
were trails that had been created over a relatively long period of human activity.
These included a trail along Redwood Creek, which ran from Frank Valley Road
on the south and extended west and north along Bootjack Creek (present main
trail and Bootjack Trail); a side trail leading up Fern Canyon; and the Lone Tree
Trail (Trail to Willow Camp, later Dipsea Trail), which ran along the ridge on the
south side of Redwood Canyon. To the east, south, and west, the open ridge-top
grasslands were part of subdivided ranches, some of which
were leased as dairy farms, including the Dias Ranch to the
south, on the parcel later identified by the Tamalpais Land
& Water Company as Ranches O and P.

Under the ownership of the Tamalpais Land & Water
Company between 1889 and 1905, Redwood Canyon and
the adjoining land at its southern end in Ranch P witnessed
some development made in association with use by the
Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association, the Bohemian Club,
and Camp Kent. Aside from Sequoia Valley Road and a
network of trails, there were few permanent built features

introduced into the redwood forest during this time. One
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Figure 2.12: The Keeper’s House,
probably built in ¢.1890 as The
Alders (the Tamalpais Sportsman’s
Association clubhouse) and
subsequently used as the residence
for the association’s warden
(keeper) and space for Camp

Kent, from a later view looking
southwest across Frank Valley
Road, 1917. The trail at the left of
the house is the Dipsea Trail, laid
out in 1905. Courtesy Golden Gate
National Recreation Area, Park
Archives, GOGA 32470 B25, Muir

Woods Collection.
TP T

change the sportsmen did make was to alter the flow of Redwood Creek, which
was naturally a gravelly stream that ran through forested and open areas character-
ized by shrubby floodplain vegetation. [Figure 2.11] Ida Johnson Allen, daughter of
the sportsmen’s keeper, Ben Johnson, recalled that the club put in a “big pond and
stocked it with steelhead.”*® This was probably a concrete dam that was located
near the south end of the redwood forest. The sportsmen also built log dams to
create additional fishing pools, as described in an account from soon after the turn

of the century:

Here [in the redwood forest] the brook [Redwood Creek] leads a gentle, rippling
life, sparkling in the sunshine, shafts which show glimpses of azure sky above the
far-off tree-tops. In June and July, heavy white clusters of azalea blossoms hang over

glassy pools, log-damned [sic], deep and cool..."”

The most visible building in and around Redwood Canyon was the sportsmen’s
clubhouse, The Alders, built in ¢.1890, most probably through funding provided
by William Kent. While its exact location is uncertain, it was probably the same
building later used by Ben Johnson in his position as Keeper for the Tamalpais
Sportsman’s Association (the 1898/1902 Denny Tourist Map located The Alders
farther south on Frank Valley Road, near the bridge over Redwood Creek, but
this map is of questionable accuracy). The Keeper’s House was a six-room cottage
located between Frank Valley Road and Redwood Creek, at the southern edge of
the 612-acre tract purchased by William Kent in 1905. [Figure 2.12, see also Draw-
ing 2] To the north of the Keeper’s House were several outbuildings, probably
used by either the sportsmen or by the Sunday School Athletic League of Marin
County as part of Camp Kent.®® South of the Keeper’s House across Frank Valley
Road were the main campgrounds for Camp Kent, located in the wooded side
canyon within Ranch P, owned by John Dias.® At the top of the side canyon, ac-
cessed by a road along the north side of the creek, was a three-room cabin erected
by Judge Conlon, probably soon after he
acquired a small plot there from Dias in
c.1898.7

Within the redwood forest, the Bohemian
Club’s encampment in 1892 introduced
the first significant built features, notably
through the construction of Sequoia Valley
Road. The road wound down the east wall
of the canyon from Throckmorton Ridge,
probably along Samuel Throckmorton’s
horse trail, and entered the redwood for-

est near its south end, and then followed
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the alignment of Redwood Creek along its east bank,
probably along a pre-existing trail or extension of
Frank Valley Road. Initially, the road was completed
to the Bohemian encampment, but by 1897 it had been
extended to Fern Creek, crossed by a well-worn log
footbridge.” The Bohemian Club encampment was
located off the west side of the road and creek, about
1,500 feet upstream from the Keeper’s House within
the eighty-acre parcel purchased by Henry Gillig in
1892 [see Drawing 2].

In August of 1892, club members began setting up the
camp, centered on the flats at the base of a minor side

canyon, but probably also extending up and down the

main canyon floor. Here, the Bohemians pitched tents

for the two-week encampment and constructed the

Figure 2.13: Full scale replica of
the Great Buddha of Kamakura stage set for their High Jinks, which they called “Bohemia’s Redwood Temple.”
in “Bohemia’s Redwood Temple,”

The stage was situated at the base of the side canyon, and featured a scale-rep-
lica in plaster and lathe of the forty-three foot high Daibutsu (Great Buddha) of

erected in Redwood Canyon for
the Bohemian Club’s summer
encampment, 1892. Courtesy Kamakura, the second largest Buddha statue in Japan. The statue was built by
Bohemian Club of San Francisco. Marion Wells and a crew of other club members, and included a mock altar, stone
pedestal, and ten-foot wide approach avenue lined by plaster walls topped with
lanterns. [Figure 2.13] This avenue apparently served as a bridge across Redwood
Creek from Sequoia Valley Road, with one end adorned by a rustic, Asian-style

moss-covered wooden fountain. [Figure 2.14]

On September 3, 1892 at the foot of the Buddha “in the depths of the primeval
forests of Mill Valley” according to club annals, the Bohemians celebrated their
High Jinks, entitled the “Ceremony of the Cremation of Care.””> The Bohemians’
encampment was certainly the most extensive development that Redwood Can-
yon had ever witnessed, but aside from the road, all was removed within a short
time. Orders for demolition were made to reduce a potential fire hazard, but the
plaster Buddha purportedly lasted a year, “the marvel of hikers,” according to club

annals, and then disintegrated.”

For the next dozen years, there is little record of any other changes to Redwood
Canyon as tourists continued to visit the forest in increasing numbers. In 1904,
a year before its purchase by William Kent, the Overland Monthly published its
telling account of the place in the years before the branch line railway was con-
structed. It was written by Harold French, a frequent hiker in the area. Although
French wrote that it was the most accessible and popular of the remote canyons

on Mount Tamalpais, he noted there were few built features—only one house was
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Figure 2.14: A rustic waterfall at the
end of the lantern-lined avenue-
bridge erected for the summer
encampment of the Bohemian Club,
1892. Courtesy Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives, GOGA
14349.029, Muir Woods Records.

visible in the vicinity, “...the lodge of Ranger Johnson, the
efficient warden of this section of the Tamalpais Sports-
man’s Club preserves.”’* (The article did not mention
Judge Conlon’s cottage in the side canyon or The Alders
as shown on the 1898/1902 Tourist Map.) Directly south
of the Keeper’s House passed a trail, “popular with more
strenuous pedestrians” according to the Overland, that
was built as a link to the Lone Tree Trail from Sequoia
Valley Road and used for the Dipsea Race, first held in
1905 [see Drawing 2]. This link segment was later known

as “Butler’s Pride””

After describing the narrow, twisting character of Se-
quoia Valley Road, Harold French described the follow-
ing impression of the road’s entrance and route through
the redwood forest for the Overland Monthly :

: The dusty wagon road dips down at last into a gate-way
colonnade of giant trees, whose needles and branchlets have made a soft, peat-carpet,
over which ones feet glide in silent delight. The wagon road follows the course of the
stream for nearly a mile upward through an exquisite variety of stream-haunting
trees, wide-spreading alders, bays and mossy maples, all of unusual size, but nestling
like mere undergrowth beneath the dense evergreen branches of the redwoods...
The end of the road is at the forks of the stream [Fern Creek], where a great log

spanning the joining waters is worn smooth as a foot-bridge.”

Although an increasingly popular tourist destination, the vehicular and pedestrian
traffic was apparently not sufficient by 1904 to wear away the carpet of needles

on the road. Nor had there apparently been any built recreational features added
aside from the road itself, which also served as the main trail, and the log foot-
bridge over Fern Creek. The only formal feature was the Emerson memorial.
Installed on May 25, 1903, it was a thin bronze plaque that read “1803 - EMER-
SON -1903” measuring eight inches by fourteen inches. It was affixed to what was
believed to be the largest redwood tree, located at the south entrance to the woods
near where the road or trail from Frank Valley intersected Sequoia Valley Road.
The plaque was fixed approximately eight feet up on the west side of the tree,
facing the creek, most likely because the road at the time ran along that side of the

tree (it was later realigned to the other side of the tree) [see Drawing 2].”

The lack of visitor amenities changed when William Kent and the Mill Valley and
Mt. Tamalpais Scenic Railway implemented a program of improvements following

Kent’s purchase of Redwood Canyon in 1905, in anticipation of increased visita-
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tion following the completion of the branch line railway. The improvements—built
largely by the railway, but with approval and some financing from Kent—included
extension and improvement of Sequoia Valley Road (main trail), building of new
trails along the west side of the creek, and new footbridges, benches, and picnic
tables along the canyon floor.” These features were designed in a rustic manner,
meant to be aesthetically compatible with the natural character of the forest. Such
rustic design was in keeping with a style for buildings and landscapes that had

become popular across the country by the turn of the twentieth century.

ORIGINS AND LOCAL USE OF RUSTIC DESIGN

The origins of the rustic style that William Kent used in the improvements at Red-
wood Canyon trace back in large part to the movement for scenic preservation
that began in the mid-nineteenth century, and in the concurrent interest in the
aesthetic of wilderness. As settlement and industrialization spread out across the
country during this time, many Americans—especially in urban areas—began to
romanticize about their dwindling natural lands, casting aside earlier settlement-
era ideas of nature as a threat to civilization. The work of the Hudson River
School artists and the Transcendentalist writers began to reveal the unique beauty
and spiritual meaning of land that had seemingly been untouched by humans. To
an increasingly urban and wealthy population, the wilderness of remote moun-
tains and virgin forests became the country’s own unique heritage, comparable

to Europe’s age-old cultural icons. In the landscape, Americans translated this
appreciation into picturesque designs that idealized rural countryside and natural
areas, stemming in large part from the eighteenth-century tradition of the roman-

tic English landscape garden.

Interest in idealized rural and natural landscapes was becoming widespread by
the mid-nineteenth century, due in large part to the increasing number of wealthy
Americans who were building country homes, and also to the many city leaders
who were pursuing development of the urban counterpart, the public park. Land-
scape gardener and architect Andrew Jackson Downing, who became famous
through several mid-nineteenth century design treatises, was one of the nation’s
earliest experts on the design of country places. Downing was especially fond of
the forests and mountains in his native Hudson River Valley and Catskill Moun-
tains, and of their sublime effects that conjured up feelings of wilderness and an-
tiquity. Downing celebrated such effects in his description of Montgomery Place,
a Hudson River country place that he wrote about in his 1841 work, A Treatise on

the Theory and Practice of Landscape Gardening, Adapted to North America:

Among the fine features of this estate are the wilderness, a richly wooded
and highly picturesque valley, filled with the richest growth of trees, and

threaded with dark, intricate, and mazy walks, along which are placed a
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Figure 2.15: “One of the Rustic
Seats at Montgomery Place,”

from Andrew Jackson Downing, A
Treatise on the Theory and Practice
of Landscape Gardening Adapted to
North America (New York: Orange
Judd, 1865), 32.

variety of rustic seats. This valley is musical with the sound of waterfalls, of
which there are several fine ones in the bold impetuous stream which finds

its course through the lower part of the wilderness...”

The seat that Downing illustrated featured a steeply-pitched roof and unmilled
log and twig structural elements that mimicked the form of the conifer in the
background. [Figure 2.15] The seat was set into the vegetation along an irregular
path following the course of the stream, providing an effect where built structures
were secondary to the natural environment. Downing’s use of the term “rustic”
would soon become synonymous with a design style that harmonized with nature,
making use of indigenous materials as well as vernacular building traditions

that often looked back to pioneering days. The rustic style became a favorite for
wooded and informal landscapes on country estates in the years after
the Civil War. It became especially popular during this time in the for-
ested Adirondack Mountains of New York, where seasonal residenc-
es, known as “camps,” were typically detailed with log construction,
twig ornament, and broad overhanging roofs. Such architecture was
evocative not only of the forest, but also looked romantically back at
settlement-era buildings, as well as the vernacular architecture of the
Alps.%

In the West, the ideals of scenic preservation and picturesque land-
scape design were widely accepted; however, here as elsewhere, the
late nineteenth century was a time of experimentation in architecture
and landscape design. This was evident in the early development of
some of the first parks, undertaken through the efforts of private individuals, rail-
roads, and the military before there were unified public park systems. The search
for appropriate design was evident at Yosemite, located approximately two hun-
dred miles east of San Francisco. Yosemite was set aside as a state park through

a federal grant in 1864, and became a national park in 1890. The great American
landscape architect, Frederick Law Olmsted, visited Yosemite in the mid-1860s,
and wrote a special report to the park commissioners describing the powerful
effect of its picturesque scenery, with its beautiful fields and groves on the valley
floor, giant redwoods, and sublime granite precipices: “This union of the deep-
est sublimity with the deepest beauty of nature, not in one feature or another,
not in one part or one scene or another, not any landscape that can be framed by
itself, but all around and wherever the visitor goes, constitutes the Yo Semite [sic]
the great glory of nature”®' By the time of his Yosemite report, Olmsted and his
partner Calvert Vaux had designed similar effects of the beautiful and sublime at
Central Park, which they had initially designed in the late 1850s. At the part of the
park known as the “Ramble,” they created a sublime wilderness garden with rock

outcroppings, a gorge, woods, winding paths, and rustic built features, includ-
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ing rough-timber bridges and pavilions, and a castle-like stone observatory that

seemed to rise out of the native rock outcropping.

While nature already provided the picturesque scenery at Yosemite, it took some
experimenting to settle on appropriate built forms there, despite the precedent of
Downing and Olmsted & Vaux. In his report to the commissioners, Olmsted had
only provided general guidance about built forms, recommending “...the restric-
tion...of all artificial constructions and the prevention of all constructions marked-
ly inharmonious with the scenery or which would unnecessarily obscure, distort
or detract from the dignity of the scenery.”® The first park hostelry, Hotel Wa-
wona built in 1876, was probably considered, by the simplicity of its design, to be
harmonious with the natural scenery. Yet it reflected more refined resort architec-
ture found in villages and coastal resorts, with balloon construction and painted,
milled and turned woodwork. The vocabulary of rustic design employing more
literal representations of the natural environment, such as found in Adirondack
camps or The Ramble at Central Park, did not appear in Yosemite until around
the turn of the century. Aside from several quasi-rustic wood studios, the most
conspicuous of the first-generation rustic buildings at the park was LeConte
Memorial Lodge, built by the Sierra Club in 1903 of rough-coursed stone masonry
and a steeply-pitched roof, evocative of the nearby granite precipices.® The year
1903 was also when the famous Old Faithful Inn at Yellowstone National Park was
built by the Northern Pacific Railroad, a building that echoed the architecture of
Adirondack great camps. With its massive proportions and what historian Ethan
Figure 2.16: Stolte cottage in Carr has called “pseudo-pioneer construction techniques,” it was one of the first
Homestead Valley, built in 1905, major wooden rustic buildings constructed in the Western national parks.*

illustrating local use of rustic design

with log and branch columns and o ) )
Building and landscape design on Mount Tamalpais reflected developments

porch railings, photographed ¢.1910.
Courtesy Lucretia Little History similar to those at Yosemite and Yellowstone. In the initial development of Mill
Room, Mill Valley Public Library, Mill
Valley, California.

Valley from 1890 and the first decade of the 1900s, built features in park-like and
wild areas generally reflected national styles typical of
more urbane resort areas. One example was Tavern of
the Tamalpais at the terminus of the Mill Valley and Mt.
Tamalpais Scenic Railway, built in the Shingle style in
1896 [see Figure 2.8]. Soon after the turn of the century,
however, rustic was widely adopted as a fitting style for
Mount Tamalpais, probably in the hopes of retaining
the wild character of the region that was quickly becom-
ing suburbanized. In camps, seasonal homes, and parks
outside of the core of Mill Valley, the rustic style char-
acterized by raw, unmilled timber was apparently quite
typical. Examples from the first decade of the twentieth

century included a log and branch gateway to Camp
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Figure 2.17: Another local example
of rustic design at the Cascades,

a public park above Mill Valley
donated by the Tamalpais Land &
Water Company and developed by
The Outdoor Club, photographed
¢.1901. Courtesy Lucretia Little
History Room, Mill Valley Public
Library, Mill Valley, California.

Figure 2.18: The Redwood Canyon
branch line of the Mill Valley and Mt.
Tamalpais Scenic Railway, illustrating
narrow, twisting alignment through
the forest, ¢.1910. Courtesy Ted
Wurm Collection, published in Ted
Wurm, The Crookedest Railroad in
the World (Interurban Press, 1983).

Tamalpais, a log sulphur springhouse in lower Mill
Valley, and the Stolte cottage in Homestead Valley,
which featured rustic log posts and branch railings on
the porch. [Figure 2.16] When Mill Valley’s first public
park, The Cascades, was established in 1901 through

a gift by the Tamalpais Land & Water Company, the
community decided to retain its wild character. Rather
than add formal features, The Outdoor Club, a local
arts society founded by Laura White (wife of the
Tamalpais Land & Water Company president, Lovell
White), added features in a rustic style that harmo-
nized with the rocky, forested canyon through the use
of twigs and branches for fences and benches.* [Figure
2.17] The improvements at Redwood Canyon, completed soon after this time,

reflected a similar rustic approach to the landscape.

KENT-RAILWAY IMPROVEMENTS TO REDWOOD CANYON, 1905-1907

Soon after William Kent acquired Redwood Canyon in August 1905, he and the
Mill Valley and Mount Tamalpais Scenic Railway began to progress their plans

for improving the forest into a park, with the railway responsible for building the
actual improvements. By the summer of 1907, the railway had completed most of
the work. The San Francisco Sunday Call published an illustrated article on the
park in their Sunday magazine of July 7, detailing its scenic wonders and recent
improvements. The most significant of the improvements was the branch line
railway, which created a new entrance to the park at the north end, complimenting
the existing access from Sequoia Valley Road at the south. % Work on the line was
begun in 1905, but construction was delayed by the San Francisco earthquake in
April 1906 and problems in securing rights-of-way through the lands
acquired by the North Coast Water Company in December 1906. By
the spring of 1907, the branch line was completed and went into partial
operation using existing rolling stock (the line would not become fully
operational until a year later). Although Kent had initially intended on
leasing his entire 612-acre tract to the railway, in July 1907 he instead
conveyed to the company just a 100-foot right of way along the rail

line.¥’

The San Francisco Sunday Call described a ride on the new branch line
as being “...like a spin through the air in a really up to date auto...Once
within the dappled shade of the trees comes an irresistible desire to
put on all four brakes and stop the car.”® [Figure 2.18] The branch line
crossed open grasslands on the higher elevations, and then descended

into the woods through a narrow clearing carefully cut through the
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forest and the steep canyon walls. The line terminated at the northeast corner of
Kent’s 612-acre tract in a clearing at an elevation of 490 feet, about a quarter mile
from the floor of canyon, placed well outside of the big trees [see Drawing 2]. As
Kent wrote, he and the railway had carefully avoided the “...desecration of putting
a [railroad] track on the floor of the canon.”® Below the terminus, there was an
opening in the forest that allowed views out across the canyon and over the tops

of the redwood trees.”®

Several trails were planned to allow visitors to hike down to the canyon floor and
into the heart of the redwood forest, designed so that “...there will be enough of

them to swallow up in an instant carloads of people,” according to the Sunday

1
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Figure 2.19: Diagram showing road
extensions and realignment through
1907. SUNY ESF.

alocal conservationist, W. T. Plevin.??
The road also required building of a new bridge over Fern Creek, replacing the
earlier log footbridge, but still designed with log railings in a rustic manner that

complimented the natural character of the forest.”® [Figure 2.20]

As part of the plan worked out with the railway, William Kent initially agreed to
finance and build a hotel at the terminus of the branch line, and lease it back to the
railway for a fee and percentage of receipts. The hotel was envisioned as a visi-

tor retreat and gateway to the redwood forest, and according to the Sunday Call,
would be “one of the most beautiful resorts in the country;” and expected to cost
upward of $100,000.” The site was at the terminus of the branch line railway, at
the top of the west wall of Fern Canyon [see Drawing 2]. Due to the San Francisco

earthquake and resulting high building costs, Kent was unable to progress his
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plans for the hotel, and instead the railway company later
took up the project on a reduced scale by itself. Construc-
tion would not begin until after the branch line became
fully operational in 1908. In keeping with the trend toward
rustic design on Mount Tamalpais after the turn of the
century, plans were for a timber building with a broad, low-
slung hipped, shingled roof, and a wrap-around veranda
with rough log posts and railings, a grander version of the

Stolte cottage in Mill Valley.

Along with the introduction of rail access, William Kent and

T =
g e PR . . . . .
) the railway improved the roads into Redwood Canyon at its
Figure 2.20: The old Fern Creek
Bridge built in ¢.1906 for the south end, perhaps envisioning the day when automobiles would become a popu-

railway’s extension of Sequoia Valley  ]ar means of transportation, but also certainly ensuring that the existing tourist
Road, photographed 1931. Courtesy

i . liveries in Mill Valley could continue to do business. At the time he acquired the
Golden Gate National Recreation

Area, uncatalogued photo in box property, there were two vehicular entrances at the south end of the canyon:

36/6, Muir Woods Collection. an upper entrance from Sequoia Valley Road, and a lower entrance from Frank
Valley Road.” Soon after acquiring the roads from the Tamalpais Land & Water

Fig 2.21: View along Sequoia Company in August 1905, Kent and the railway made improvements and opened
Valley R i il . . . .

ey oéd (main t':a' ) atan . them for free public use. The improved road, completed in c.1906, was still a
undetermined location following

¢.1906 improvements, photographed ~ 11arrow, earthen track with numerous sharp turns, designed for horse and wagon
€.1908. E. T. Parsons, “William Kent's  traffic rather than automobiles. It did feature a new alignment that bypassed the
Gift,” Sierra Club Bulletin, volume

intersection of Sequoia Valley Road and Frank Valley Road, thereby largely avoid-
VI, no. 5 (June 1908), 286.

s ing the redwood forest. The bypass also provided a seamless connec-

tion between the two roads [see Figure 2.19]. Kent and the railway
had apparently proposed a new alignment for Frank Valley Road on

the east side of Redwood Creek, but it was never built.”’

Within the redwood forest, William Kent and the railway made

few substantial changes aside from the road extension and branch
line, instead retaining much of the wild character. While they an-
ticipated large increases in visitation, they chose to restrict visitors
to the canyon floor, rather than develop areas of the forest on the
more sensitive steep canyon walls. Sequoia Valley Road (wagon
road, later main trail), which ran along the east side of Redwood
Creek, remained the central spine through the forest, with a graded,
needle-covered surface wide enough for one vehicle. *® [Figure 2.21]
There were apparently few changes made to the road’s alignment,
except at the Emerson memorial, where the road was most likely
moved back from the creek. With this realignment, the Emerson
memorial no longer faced the road. To the west of the road, across

Redwood Creek, railway workers laid out two side-trails along the
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creek, providing a route where visitors
could walk through the forest without
interference from vehicular traffic [see
Drawing 2]. These side trails formed
two loops that were accessed across
four footbridges, designed as simple,
rustic structures similar to the vehicu-
lar bridge over Fern Creek, with plank
floors and branch railings and posts.

% [Figure 2.22] The south loop trail

passed the site of the Bohemian Club’s

o ] 1892 summer encampment, an area
Figure 2.22: One of the four rustic P >

footbridges (in lower canyon) built known as the Bohemian Grove. Although there was little trace of the immense
in ¢.1905-1907, photographed Buddha statue and adjoining amphitheater, the railway planned on erecting a sign
¢.1908. E. T. Parsons, “William Kent's

Gift,” Sierra Club Bulletin, vol. VI, no.
5 (June 1908), 288. the forest above Fern Creek, the main trail branched to the northwest, leading to

to direct visitors to the site and inform them of its history.!” At the north end of

the top of the ridge near the Lone Tree (Dipsea) Trail and then to Steep Ravine
[see Drawing 2]. This trail was purportedly built by Ben Johnson, the warden of
the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association, soon before his death in September 1904,
and was probably improved by the railway. It was known as the Ben Johnson Trail,

and alternatively as Sequoia Trail. '”!

At points along the wagon road and canyon-floor trails, visitor amenities were set

Figure 2.23: A rustic bench in out, including trash containers, “watering places” (water fountains), and rustic ta-

Redwood Canyon built in c.1905- bles and benches designed with planks and slabs of redwood. Some of the bench-
1907, photographed 1908. The

es were positioned and built into the base of the redwoods. *? [Figure 2.23] These
person at the left is Andrew

Lind, William Kent's caretaker for features were probably concentrated within two primary picnic groves: Bohemian

Redwood Canyon, the other two Grove, and to the north on the east side of Redwood Creek, Cathedral Grove (ap-
are unidentified. National Archives
I, College Park, Maryland, RG 79, PI
166, E7, Central Classified Files, 1907-
1932, Muir Woods, box 600. growth family circle of redwoods on the canyon floor [see Drawing 2]. ' Along

parently so named because of its lofty height and popularity for weddings). Each

grove consisted of a level area clear of underbrush within and surrounding an old-

'ii i) | \ | the wagon road, there were two

| small buildings by 1907, each near
the north and south entrances to

the canyon. The north building was
located near where the Ben Johnson
Trail and new road to the branch-line
railway entered the canyon floor. It
was a small, rustic cabin built of alder
logs with a shingled gable roof and

a footprint of approximately twelve
feet by ten feet. [Figures 2.24, 2.25]
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Although later legend was that this log cabin was built in the 1880s or
1890s, it was most probably built by John Bickerstaff for William Kent
around the time he purchased Redwood Canyon in 1905.'™ While it
may have been briefly used by the Tamalpais Sportsman’s Association,
Kent probably intended the cabin as a sort of gatehouse to guard the
north end of the canyon. Its log construction was most likely intended
to create a rustic effect, complimenting the wild character of the forest.
Kent may have had a matching cabin/gatehouse built at the point where
Sequoia Valley Road entered the canyon floor, at the south end of the

redwood forest near the Emerson memorial.'®

With the improvements completed between 1905 and 1907, William
Kent and the mountain railway had made Redwood Canyon into a
quasi-public park, based on the growth of tourism over the previous
decade and marking one of the first achievements in the broader move-
ment to establish a 12,000-acre public park on Mount Tamalpais. Along

with the mountain railway and summit of Mount Tamalpais, Redwood

Figure 2.24: The log cabin at the Canyon had become the region’s best-known attraction. Although

north end of the redwood forest, developed into a park, the redwood forest retained much of its wild character due
built in c.1905, photographed to Kent’s strong conservation ethic and a rustic design vocabulary then becom-
¢.1910. View is looking down from . idel di K d Ih in th . With th di
the road to the branch railway, ing widely used in parks and seasonal homes in the region. With the pending

across the main trail. Courtesy construction of the railway inn, the improvements would be complete, ushering
Geo-Images Project, Department o jp) 4 new era of public access and amenities. Yet under the private ownership of
Geography, University of California,
Berkeley, Magic Lantern slide NC-H-

54, http://Geolmages.Berkeley.edu. redwood forest dating back to Samuel Throckmorton had guarded the trees from

William Kent, the park would soon face a new threat. While the owners of the

harm or destruction for what one report written in 1907 described as “sentimental
reasons,” the climate in the years following the San Francisco earthquake of 1906
encouraged the North Coast Water Company to aggressively pursued plans for

building a reservoir in Redwood Canyon. '

Figure 2.25: Postcard of the log
cabin, view looking toward the main
trail from the approach trail along
Redwood Creek, ¢.1908. Courtesy
Golden Gate National Recreation

; 45 g Area, Park Archives, GOGA 32470
Log Cafiey Muir 'u'.-‘cmud:.,rﬂgw'_r #it:lamaipais, California: - . B38, Muir Woods Collection.
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LanD-UsEe History, 1907-1928

CHAPTER 3
PROCLANMATION OF MUIR WOODS NATIONAL MONUMENT
AND THE KENT-RAILWAY ERA, 1907-1928

y the fall of 1907, Redwood Canyon, with its railway and improved road

access, trails, and rustic bridges and benches, had become one of the

main attractions on Mount Tamalpais thanks to the efforts of Wil-
liam Kent and the mountain railway (Mill Valley and Mount Tamalpais Scenic
Railway). For the time being, Kent had achieved his two main objectives for the
property: protecting the redwood forest and opening it up for public enjoyment.
Within two years, however, the threat of the forest’s destruction for a reservoir,
already planned when Kent purchased the property in 1905, would develop into a
legal property challenge that spurred federal acquisition of the redwood forest and
its designation as a National Monument. While the monument designation and its
naming after the famous conservationist John Muir would bring new prestige to
Redwood Canyon and secure long-term protection of the redwoods, it resulted in
little change to the landscape or its management for many years, especially prior to
establishment of the National Park Service (NPS) in 1916. Once the NPS became
operational in 1917, the administration of Muir Woods changed as it enjoyed the
attention of senior NPS officials and became associated for a time with Yosemite
National Park. Yet through the 1920s, William Kent and the mountain railway

remained central in the management of Muir Woods.

Aside from the completion of the Muir Inn in 1908 and the extension of the
branch line railway in 1914, there were few significant changes to the Muir Woods
landscape during the first decade of government ownership. In its second de-
cade, a number of changes and improvements were made to Muir Woods, which
enjoyed a relatively high level of attention due in part to William Kent’s close as-
sociation with senior NPS officials. By the late 1920s, 150 acres had been added to
the monument, automobiles had been banned from the woods, a new custodian’s
house and office had been constructed, and the road access had been upgraded.
Overall, however, Muir Woods National Monument remained little changed from

the initial development undertaken by William Kent and the mountain railway.

WILLIAM KENT’S GIFT AND PROCLAMATION OF
MUIR WOODS NATIONAL MONUMENT

When William Kent purchased his 612-acre Redwood Canyon tract in August
1905, he had considered giving the property one day to the state, a university, or
the federal government as part of a larger public park on Mount Tamalpais. ' A
proposed condemnation of the property, however, forced him to take immediate

action on his plans to gift the redwood forest to the public as a means to secure
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its preservation. In 1907, the North Coast Water Company—the private company
spun off from the Tamalpais Land & Water Company in 1903—began to progress
plans for building a reservoir in Redwood Canyon (the company had previously
secured water rights to Kent’s property per his 1905 deed of purchase). The com-
pany already owned six hundred acres to the north of Kent’s property, a parcel it
had acquired in December 1906. This parcel included the main tributaries of Red-
wood Creek—Bootjack, Rattlesnake, and Spike Buck Creeks, but its topography
was not suitable for a sizeable reservoir. In order to build a reservoir in Redwood
Canyon, the water company—Iled by its owners James Newlands and William
Magee—made plans in 1907 to file a condemnation suit in the Marin County court
for forty-seven acres of Kent’s land. This land was most likely at the northern end
of the canyon floor, with the dam proposed just below Fern Creek.? Although only
a small part of Kent’s land would have been flooded, the forty-seven acres en-
compassed the northern part of canyon floor and a sizeable proportion of the big
trees; perhaps more importantly, the reservoir would have divided the tract and
disrupted the railway’s new access to the canyon floor. With the great demand for
water and timber in the aftermath of the San Francisco earthquake of April 1906,
Newlands and Magee apparently felt they could get the public support needed to
win the condemnation suit, despite the growing popularity of the redwood forest.’
On December 2, 1907, the North Coast Water Company filed the proceedings for
condemnation in the Superior Court of Marin County while William Kent was

away in Hawaii on an extended vacation to recover from influenza.*

On December 3, 1907, upon his return from Hawaii having just learned of the
condemnation suit filed the day before, William Kent urgently wired his close
associate, Gifford Pinchot, Chief of the United States Forest Service within the
Department of Agriculture and a confidant to President Theodore Roosevelt

in matters of conservation. Kent turned to Pinchot and the federal government
to protect the redwood forest, rather than to the state or county, realizing that
state laws in California recognized the right to condemn private property for the
purpose of public water supply. Pinchot had also earlier served as an advocate
on behalf of William Kent’s efforts to create a national park on Mount Tamalpais
begun in 1903, and so Kent pleaded for his continued assistance in protecting the

redwood forest, as he typed in his telegram:

Condemnation and destruction of Redwood Caiion threatened by Water Company.
Must have it accepted as National forest at once. Wish to reserve forty acres not
involved, but deeding all timber to Government. Will provide policing ten or twenty
years. Sole idea is to save trees for public. Wire acceptance and terms. Vitally urgent.

Answer Kentfield, Marin County, California.®
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On the same day, Kent wrote to Pinchot, sending him a map of the property he
wished to offer as a gift to the federal government, encompassing most of the
redwood forest, but not the entire 612-acre Redwood Canyon tract. Kent’s passion
for preserving the forest was clear in his closing remarks to Pinchot: “You may
rest assured that I shall leave no stone unturned to save these trees, and I call upon
you as one in distress, to help me out. I feel so intensely about it that I consider

the lives of myself and other people of this generation as comparatively unimport-
ant when contrasted with the benefaction through centuries of such a breathing

place”®

In addition to contacting Gifford Pinchot in Washington, Kent also turned to the
local field office of the United States Forest Service in San Francisco, meeting with
his personal friend and professionally-trained forester, Frederick E. Olmsted,
who held the position of Chief Inspector in that office.” Olmsted was a relative of
landscape architect Frederick Law Olmsted, and was one of the first graduates

of the Biltmore Forest School, established in 1898 on the F. W. Vanderbilt Estate,
“Biltmore,” in Asheville, North Carolina as a school for teaching practical forestry
devoted to sustainable timber production. In California, Olmsted developed
management plans for private timberland owners, and directed boundary surveys
in National Forests in the West. ® At Muir Woods, Olmsted must have quickly real-
ized that Kent’s hopes for National Forest designation would not necessarily en-
sure the preservation of the redwoods; the Forest Reserves policy of 1905 stressed
the importance of “use” in National Forests, which was typically understood

at the time to mean sustainable timber production.’ Olmsted instead directed
Kent’s attention to the recently passed Antiquities Act of 1906, which allowed the
President to designate federal lands as National Monuments for the purposes of

preserving resources of prehistoric, historic, or scientific interest.'

Olmsted, Pinchot, and Kent soon concurred that the redwood forest could fit the
category of scientific interest under the Antiquities Act, and due to its proximity

to San Francisco, would meet the educational spirit of the law given its potentially
great public exposure. Pinchot, who was already familiar with Redwood Canyon,
apparently assured Kent of success in achieving federal acquisition and monument
designation. Apparently because of stipulations in the Antiquities Act pertaining
to monuments established through gifts of private property, the redwood forest
would not be acquired through Pinchot’s Forest Service within the Department
of Agriculture, but rather through the Department of the Interior." Despite this,
Pinchot and Olmsted remained Kent’s key aides at the federal level, while continu-
ing their assistance in park development efforts elsewhere on Mount Tamalpais.
Pinchot also had a record of providing official advice to the Department of the
Interior on forest reserve policies, so his continued involvement in Muir Woods as

a forest resource was an outgrowth of this relationship.'
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In addition to seeking federal assistance, Kent also took a try at changing the water
company’s mind. On December 10, 1907, he wrote a four-page letter to William
Magee, pleading with him to withdraw the condemnation suit and arguing that
preservation of the trees was a higher service than public water supply which
could be provided elsewhere.* Knowing that Magee would most likely not change
his mind, Kent also planned a widespread publicity campaign aimed at building
public support for the federal acquisition and monument designation. Although
Kent’s lawyer, William Thomas, initially advised him against starting such a cam-
paign in order to not irritate the plaintiffs, Kent quickly proceeded, contacting
Benjamin Wheeler, the President of the University of California at Berkeley on
December 11" and the editor of the San Francisco Star on December 12, among

others.'

Kent needed to rush the federal process so that Redwood Canyon would be in
federal ownership before he was presented with the condemnation papers from
the county court, which he anticipated receiving on January 10, 1908. By securing
federal ownership by that date, Kent could avoid the lawsuit and the appearance
he was bypassing state jurisdiction.'” By December 14", within two weeks of his
telegram to Gifford Pinchot, the prospect for federal acquisition of Redwood Can-
yon looked promising. F. E. Olmsted wrote Kent that he had requested Pinchot

to send a form of deed for the acceptance of Redwood Canyon by the Secretary
of the Interior. At the same time, Kent was having a survey prepared of the nearly
three-hundred acre tract, the boundaries of which corresponded with the limits of
the redwood forest within his larger 612-acre property, excepting approximately
138 forested acres at the north end of the canyon surrounding the branch line rail-
way. Here, Kent still wished to preserve the redwoods, but realized the existence
of the railroad and his proposed construction of an inn could be problematic to
the monument designation.'® By making the boundaries correspond to the bound-
aries of the redwood forest except for this parcel, Kent was generally following

the letter of the Antiquities Act, which specified that the limits of National Monu-
ments “...in all cases shall be confined to the smallest area compatible with proper

care and management of the objects to be protected..”"’

On December 17, Olmsted and his assistant, Mr. Dubois, made a site visit to Red-
wood Canyon, arriving via the railway, to develop a description of the property

to accompany the monument application. Olmsted and Kent estimated the total
stand of redwood at approximately thirty-five million board feet, with five million
more of Douglas-fir and tanoak, for a total valuation of $150,000. In addition to
the description of the forest, Olmsted also described the rationale for the National
Monument designation, echoing Kent’s emphasis upon the scientific and educa-

tional value. He wrote that the property:
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...is of extraordinary scientific interest because of the primeval and virgin char-
acter of the forest and the age and size of the trees. Its influence as an educational
factor is immense because it offers what may some day be one of the few vestiges
of an ancient giant forest, so situated as to make its enjoyment by the people a
matter of course. It would make a most unique National Monument because it
would be a living National Monument, than which nothing could be more typi-

cally American [sic]."®

By Christmas 1907, Olmsted had completed his report, entitled “Muir National
Monument,” the first known evidence of Kent’s naming the property after John
Muir."” The day after Christmas was a busy one for William Kent and a mo-
mentous day for Redwood Canyon. On December 26, 1907, Kent forwarded

the Olmsted report, his completed survey, and the deed from him and his wife,
Elizabeth Thacher Kent, gifting the 298-acre tract to the nation through James R.
Garfield, Secretary of the Interior:

I herewith enclose a deed of gift to a tract of land in Marin County, California,
morve fully described by accompanying documents, and request that you accept it
as provided for by the Act of June 8, 1906 [Antiquities Act]. The property is well
worthy of being considered a monument, and has surpassing scientific interest. The
tract containing 295 acres [sic] is all heavily wooded with virgin timber, chiefly
redwood and douglas [sic] fir...In the opinion of experts it is a wilderness park
such as is accessible to no other great City in the world, and should be preserved
forever for public use and enjoyment. It is now accessible by wagon road, by trails,
and by railroad, and is now, and has long been used and enjoyed by the public.
After having traveled over a large part of the open country in the United States,
I consider this tract with its beautiful trees, ferns, wild flowers and shrubs as one
of the most attractive bits of wilderness I have ever seen. In tendering it I request

that it be known as Muir Woods in honor of John Muir. *

Kent also wrote Gifford Pinchot at the same time, and enclosed a copy of the
survey on which Kent showed the limits of the property proposed for condemna-
tion by the North Coast Water Company. Kent confessed to Pinchot his intent for
the federal acquisition: “I would say to you personally that I am planning a coup
against these public enemies that will I believe forever finish them and their water
scheme and put them where they will have nothing to sue for. If you remember the
cafion you will note that the stuff they try to steal takes in the best timber and all

the charm of the place..”””!

Secretary Garfield acted quickly on Kent’s request, relying upon approval by
Gifford Pinchot and probably with prior agreement by President Theodore
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Figure 3.1: Survey of Muir Woods
submitted by William Kent and
made part of the proclamation by
President Theodore Roosevelt on
January 9, 1908. RG 79, PI 166, E7,
Central Classified Files, 1907-1932,
Muir Woods, box 600, National
Archives Il, College Park, Maryland.

Roosevelt.”? On December 31, 1907, Garfield accepted Kent’s gift under provisions
of the Antiquities Act and signed the deed transferring the property to federal
ownership, apparently without reference to the water rights on the property

held by the North Coast Water Company. A Presidential proclamation was soon
drafted and on January 9, 1908, Garfield submitted it to Theodore Roosevelt for
his signature. That same day, the President signed the proclamation, thereby estab-
lishing Muir Woods National Monument, the seventh created under the Antiqui-
ties Act and the first from privately donated property rather than from federal or
state-owned lands [see Appendix B for proclamation text]. Although Kent and
Olmsted had stressed the importance of the proximity to San Francisco, the proc-
lamation in the end only stated the scientific value of the forest.® On January 22,
1908, the abstract of title, maps of the tract, and other papers were conveyed to the
General Land Office within the Department of the Interior, which was assigned
responsibility for the management of Muir Woods National Monument.** [Figure
3.1] President Roosevelt had suggested that the monument be named Kent Woods,

but William Kent argued against the name

CALIFORNIA E
Containing about 295 acres

MUIR WOODS NATI ONAL MONUMENT change, and it remained Muir Woods. >
IN
T.I N.,R.6 W. William Kent had chosen the name Muir
M.D.M. Woods out of honor to John Muir, but he

had actually never met him in person, and

— | Muir had probably only visited the woods

once, back in 1904 along with Gifford
Pinchot and Charles S. Sargent. However,
Muir, who lived across San Francisco Bay
in Martinez, followed the developments
at Redwood Canyon, and on the day the
monument was proclaimed, wrote that he
was “...delighted with the salvation of the

Tamalpais Redwood Groves, that so noble

a park naturally a part of San Francisco
should ever have been in danger of destruc-
tion is a sad commentary on its citizens. I'll
send Mr. Kent my thanks & congratula-
tions. How refreshing to find such a man
amid so vast a multitude of dull money

hunters dead in trespasses & sins..”*

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR On February 10®, William Kent responded
GENERAL LAND OFFICE
Richard A.Balling¢er, Commissioner

to Muir with an invitation to come speak at

areception being given in honor of Kent by

[DIAGRAM ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THE PROCLAMATION the Native Sons of San Rafael. Kent thought
DATED JANUARY &, 1908.]
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Figure 3.2: John Muir on a

footbridge during his visit to Muir
Woods shortly after the monument
designation, 1908. Courtesy Golden
Gate National Recreation Area, Park
Archives, GOGA 32480 B32, Muir
Woods Records.

it would be a good opportunity to meet Muir, and for both to
speak about the issue of the reception: nature preservation
and reviving efforts to establish a 12,000-acre park on Mount
Tamalpais.”’ Then in September 1908, Kent invited John Muir
and his family to his family home, Kentfield, and took him on
a tour of Muir Woods, arriving via the railroad.” Kent hired

a photographer for the event, capturing Muir on one of the
rustic footbridges. [Figure 3.2] Muir returned the following
year, when the Muir Inn was completed, but is not known to
have visited again or had any further direct involvement with

the monument.?’ He died in 1914.

While John Muir had little direct association with Muir
Woods, William Kent nonetheless used his name and sought
his aid against the ongoing legal battle over the property by
James Newlands and William Magee of the North Coast Water
Company.* Newlands and Magee pressed on with their con-
demnation suit for nearly a year following the transfer of the
property to the federal government on December 31, 1907. They were encouraged
in Washington in part because the Justice Department did not give any suggestion
of an opinion regarding the legality of the monument designation, despite an ini-
tial meeting with Kent’s lawyer, William Thomas, in January 1908. Newlands and
Magee were also led on at the regional level, where the U. S. District Attorney in
San Francisco, Robert Devlin, failed to act on the lawsuit. The businessmen based
their case upon the premise that their condemnation proceedings had begun prior
to the federal government’s acquisition of Muir Woods, and therefore, the monu-
ment lands maintained the equivalent status of private property for the purposes

of the lawsuit. 3!

Newlands and Magee continued to call for condemnation of forty-seven acres
that would inundate the northern end of the canyon floor. Kent was personally
confident that the lawsuit would not stand, and that the public would never ac-
cept the destruction of the redwood forest. As he wrote to Secretary Garfield in
September 1908: “...I wish to assure you that the mere suggestion of chopping any
of these trees will drive all lovers of nature who know the trees, into a state of in-
tense rage..”*? Despite his confidence, Kent had to continually defend the case for
preservation given the inaction of the federal government, resulting in mounting
legal fees that totaled more than $1,500 by September 1908. Kent’s main argument
was that the condemnation suit was void due to the fact that the property was in
federal ownership. However, he also continued to voice the value of preserving
the redwood forest. He argued that preservation was a higher use than creat-

ing a public water supply that could be built elsewhere; and that creation of the
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reservoir would destroy not only the most important trees, but also the use of the
monument as a public park by dividing it in half and restricting public access in
order to prevent pollution of the reservoir. Kent also tried to offer an alternative to
Newlands and Magee by proposing to sell them land for the reservoir downstream

from the redwood forest in Frank Valley, but they rejected his offer as too costly. **

By the fall of 1908, Kent had not yet been served with a summons, and he hoped
to sit out the lawsuit until its expiration on December 3, 1908, the one-year an-
niversary of the date Newlands and Magee initially filed the suit. Probably due

to this upcoming deadline and increasing public opposition to condemnation,
Newlands and Magee offered to reduce the amount of land they wished con-
demned to fifteen acres, an area that still would have impacted the canyon floor
and old-growth trees.** Kent immediately rejected the proposal, and took his case
to President Roosevelt, writing on September 22nd: “It is my wish and suggestion
that Mr. Devlin [U. S. District Attorney] should be instructed by the Secretary of
the Interior, to use every possible means to prevent the destruction of a single tree.
There is no possibility of any compromise nor is there need for any.”* President
Roosevelt immediately responded that District Attorney Devlin be instructed as

Kent requested.*

James Newlands and William Magee were not, however, ready to give up. They
continued to press Secretary of the Interior James Garfield for their case; told
Kent’s lawyer, William Thomas, that the attack on their project was “hysterical;”
and promised to get a petition signed by every resident of Mill Valley and sur-
rounding towns in support of the reservoir, despite that they had a terrible rela-
tionship with the community over the past five years.*” To swing public opinion in
their favor, Newlands and Magee created a water shortage in Mill Valley for four
days in early October 1908, and publicly announced that it was due to the lack of
storage capacity in the system, thus illustrating the purported need for a reservoir
in Redwood Canyon. Local residents, already suspicious of the company, found
out it was a deliberate shut-off, and, as Kent wrote on October 12th, “...His [New-
lands’] campaign of education seems to be working the wrong way for him and the

right way for the rest of us...”*®

This public campaign failure for Newlands and Magee, along with President
Roosevelt’s intervention in directing action upon the District Attorney’s office, ap-
parently halted the condemnation suit, and the December 3, 1908 deadline passed
without Kent receiving a summons. On December 22", Kent requested that his
lawyers prepare a motion to dismiss the lawsuit, writing that “...there is no pos-
sibility of the plaintiffs creating any sort of dam, except a dam nuisance.”** New-
lands and Magee apparently did not pursue the condemnation suit any further.

The lawsuit had, however, stalled federal management of Muir Woods for more
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Figure 3.3: View of Mount

Tamalpais looking north from

a spur of Throckmorton Ridge
above Mill Valley, c.1910. Muir
Woods would be to the left of this
photograph. Courtesy Geo-Images
Project, Department of Geography,
University of California, Berkeley,
Magic Lantern slide NC-H-53, http://
Geolmages.Berkeley.edu.

than nine months: Secretary of the Interior James Garfield had refused to approve

any funding for the monument until the legal case was settled.*’

DEVELOPMENT & CONSERVATION ON MOUNT TAMALPAIS

The designation of Muir Woods National Monument in January 1908 came at a
time of increasing conservation and recreational activity on Mount Tamalpais, as
well as substantial suburban development in neighboring Mill Valley and other
communities on the east side of the Marin Peninsula. In submitting the proclama-
tion for Muir Woods to President Roosevelt, Secretary of the Interior Garfield
noted that the monument “...already is close to a large and growing suburban
population”*! By 1910, the City of Mill Valley had doubled in population over the
course of the decade, and by 1920, increased fifty percent to 3,974 inhabitants.
Already by 1913, the western journal Overland Monthly reported that on Mount
Tamalpais with “...constantly improving transportation
facilities, the opening of new tracts for country homes con-
tinues, with the resultant restriction of wild and free life..”#
During the 1920s, the population increased at a much slow-
er rate, reaching 4,164 by 1930, but the regional increase in
population outside of the limits of the incorporated city,
from Sausalito north to San Rafael, was much larger.* De-
velopment began to extend west onto Throckmorton Ridge,
the high spine of land above the east side of Muir Woods.
[Figure 3.3] Many streets were either planned or laid out in
anticipation of development as part of two developments,
Muir Woods Park and Muir Woods Terrace. Several houses
may have been built in these developments as early as 1917.4
[Figure 3.4]

West Marin, the region west of Throckmorton Ridge to the Pacific Ocean includ-
ing Muir Woods, witnessed only widely scattered development through the 1920s,
primarily for seasonal homes and resorts. Much of the land remained either in

its natural state or used for grazing as part of numerous dairy ranches occupying
tracts that had been initially subdivided by Samuel Throckmorton in the mid-
nineteenth century, and subsequently purchased by Portuguese and Swiss im-
migrants. Some of the ranches and land on the higher elevations formerly owned
by the Tamalpais Land & Water Company were purchased by water companies
and large landowners, including William Kent, the Stinson family, the North Coast

Water Company, and Stanford University.

Three resort developments were planned in West Marin in the vicinity of Muir

Woods from about the time of its designation into the 1920s. One, called Camp
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Figure 3.4: Map of West Marin in

vicinity of Muir Woods National
Monument showing major
subdivisions, roads, and railroads

by 1928. At the time of his death,
William Kent owned Ranches X, W, Y,
P, 2, 3 and a portion of Ranch 8. SUNY
ESF, based on USGS Point Bonitas
quadrangle (1993), Tom Harrison, “Mt
Tam Trail Map” (2003), and “Thomas
Brothers, “Map of Mill Valley,” (1929).

Monte Vista, was planned
immediately south of the
monument in a small side
canyon on the western
end of Ranch P, but it
went largely undeveloped
(more detail on this fol-
lows). The most extensive
occurred at Willow Camp
along the Pacific coast,
about three miles from
Muir Woods. William
Kent had backed resort
development there begin-
ning 1902 in conjunction
with his plans to extend
the mountain railway
there from West Point
through Steep Ravine. In
1904, following construc-
tion of the stage road on
the planned rail route, a
hotel called the Dipsea
Inn was completed at
Willow Camp, and two
years later, it became the site of the finish line for the Dipsea Race, which passed
by Muir Woods along the Lone Tree Trail. In 1906, the Stinson family, owners of a
large parcel north of the beach at Willow Camp, began to subdivide their land for
seasonal homes, and the place became sufficiently developed by 1916 to warrant a
post office. The residents then chose the name Stinson Beach for the community.
With the increasing use of automobiles after World War I, Stinson Beach became
even more popular as a resort. William Kent’s son, Thomas, built a new hotel there
in1920.%

In addition to Stinson Beach and Camp Monte Vista, several seasonal homes may
have been built by the late 1920s overlooking Big Lagoon at the mouth of Red-
wood Creek. Known as Muir Beach, the resort initially consisted of two roads
extending off the Dipsea Highway (Route 1).%

HEYDAY OF THE MOUNTAIN RAILWAY AND BEGINNINGS OF THE AUTO ERA
Tourism played a major role in building local support for conservation on Mount

Tamalpais, and the mountain railway (Mill Valley and Mt. Tamalpais Scenic
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Figure 3.5: Map of the Mt.
Tamalpais & Muir Woods Railway
in a railway brochure of ¢.1924.
National Archives II, College Park,
Maryland, RG 79, PI 166, E7, Central
Classified Files, 1907-1932, Muir
Woods, box 600.

Railway) remained one of the major tourist attractions prior to World War I. The
opening of its branch line to Redwood Canyon in 1908 coincided with the desig-
nation of Muir Woods National Monument, and hence the line became known
as the Muir Woods Branch. The years after the designation of the monument and
opening of the branch line were prosperous ones for the railway company. It car-
ried thousands of visitors from all over the world, and was proclaimed the supe-
rior rail excursion in California by a national tourist company.*’ By 1910, the com-
pany was reporting big gains, with ridership increasing over seventeen percent
from the previous year. With its future looking bright, the directors of the railway
announced a major expansion in 1911 to extend the railway to the ocean-front
resorts at Willow Camp (Stinson Beach) and Bolinas, a project William Kent had
proposed almost a decade earlier, and erect a beach-front hotel. Construction was
begun, but soon halted as the railway proposed an even more ambitious scheme
to build an entirely new line, tunneling through the mountain directly from Mill

Valley to the ocean. This scheme never materialized.*

In 1913, flush with success and prosperity, the railway directors decided to incor-
porate the company, and they chose a new name, Mt. Tamalpais & Muir Woods
Railway, reflecting the significance of its route to the National Monument.* In
1915, the year of the San Francisco Panama-Pacific International Exposition, the
railway had its busiest year ever with 102,000 passengers.*® The mountain railway
attracted tourists to its line by heavily promoting Muir Woods and its scenic route
to Mount Tamalpais through brochures and other advertising. Through the 1920s,
it continued to maintain a ticket office at the Ferry Building in downtown San
Francisco, and offered tourists a complete trip from there to Mt. Tamalpais and
Muir Woods using the Northwestern Pacific Ferry to Sausalito and the North-

western Pacific Railroad to Mill Valley to connect with its own line up the moun-
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